
VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 
BOARD OF TRUSTEES 
REGULAR MEETING 

 
Monday, November 23, 2015 

7:00 P.M. 
40 East Center Avenue 

Village Hall Board Room 
 

A G E N D A 
 

1. CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL 
 
2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

 
3. CONSIDERATION OF THE MINUTES OF THE NOVEMBER 9, 2015   VILLAGE BOARD MEETING  

 
4. NON-AGENDA ITEMS AND VISITORS 
 

The Village President and Board of Trustees allocate fifteen (15) minutes during this item for those 
individuals who would like the opportunity to address the Village Board of Trustees on any matter not listed 
on the agenda.  Each person addressing the Village Board of Trustees is asked to limit their comments to a 
maximum of five (5) minutes. 
 

5. VILLAGE BOARD SETS THE ORDER OF THE MEETING 
 

The Village President and Board of Trustees will entertain requests from anyone present on the order of 
business to be conducted during the Village Board Meeting. 
 

6. VILLAGE FINANCE REPORT 
 

a) Warrant Report for November 16-30, 2015  
 

7. VILLAGE ADMINISTRATOR’S REPORT 
 

a) Request from Lake Bluff School District 65 to Waive Development Fees for Planned Renovations of 
Lake Bluff Middle School located at 31 East Sheridan Place  
 

8. VILLAGE ATTORNEY’S REPORT 
 
9. VILLAGE PRESIDENT’S REPORT 
 

CONSENT AGENDA 
 

 
10. ACCEPTANCE OF THE CORRESPONDENCE 
 

Please note all correspondence was delivered to the Village Board of Trustees in the Informational Reports 
on November 6 and 13, 2015. 

 



Board of Trustees Regular Meeting – November 23, 2015 
 

Page 2 

11. SECOND READING OF AN ORDINANCE  AMENDING ORDINANCES 98-25, 2004-10 AND 2010-27 
CONCERNING THE EXISTING SPECIAL USE PERMIT FOR THE PERSONAL WIRELESS 
FACILITY AT THE PUBLIC SAFETY BUILDING (45 E. CENTER AVENUE) 
 

12. AN ORDINANCE ADOPTING BY REFERENCE THE LAKE COUNTY WATERSHED 
DEVELOPMENT ORDINANCE 
 

OTHER BUSINESS 
 

13. A PUBLIC HEARING REGARDING YEAR 2015 PROPERTY TAX LEVY 
 
14. AN ORDINANCE LEVYING PROPERTY TAXES FOR THE FISCAL YEAR BEGINNING MAY 1, 

2015 AND ENDING APRIL 30, 2016 FOR THE VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF, LAKE COUNTY, 
ILLINOIS  

 
15. AN ORDINANCE ABATING 2015 PROPERTY TAXES LEVIED FOR GENERAL OBLIGATION 

DEBT SERIES 2011 AND 2012 BONDS OF THE VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF, LAKE COUNTY, 
ILLINOIS  

 
16. AN ORDINANCE AMENDING AN EXISTING SPECIAL USE PERMIT (Ordinance 2008-07) AND A 

VARIATION FROM THE VILLAGE’S GROSS FLOOR AREA REQUIREMENTS TO ALLOW FOR 
THE CONSTRUCTION OF RENOVATIONS TO AN EXISTING MIDDLE SCHOOL (31 E. Sheridan 
Place) 

 
17. AN ORDINANCE GRANTING A SPECIAL USE PERMIT TO LAKE EFFECT HOLDINGS, LLC TO 

OPERATE A PHYSICAL FITNESS FACILITY AT 14 EAST SCRANTON AVENUE  
 

18. AN ORDINANCE AMENDING  CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF TITLE III OF THE VILLAGE OF THE 
LAKE BLUFF MUNICIPAL CODE REGARDING LIQUOR CONTROL 

 
19. TRUSTEE’S REPORT 
 
20. EXECUTIVE SESSION 

 
21. ADJOURNMENT 
 
 

R. Drew Irvin 
Village Administrator 

 
The Village of Lake Bluff is subject to the requirements of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990.  Individuals with disabilities who plan to attend this meeting 
and who require certain accommodations in order to allow them to observe and/or participate in this meeting, or who have questions regarding accessibility of the 
meeting or the facilities, are requested to contact R. Drew Irvin, Village Administrator, at 234-0774 or TDD number 234-2153 promptly to allow the Village of Lake 
Bluff to make reasonable accommodations. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 

BOARD OF TRUSTEES 
REGULAR MEETING 
NOVEMBER 9, 2015 

 
DRAFT MINUTES 

 
1. CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL 

 
Village President O’Hara called the meeting to order at 7:04 p.m. in the Lake Bluff Village Hall Board 
Room, and Village Clerk Aaron Towle called the roll.  
 
The following were present: 
 
Village President:  Kathleen O’Hara 
 
Trustees:   Barbara Ankenman 

Steve Christensen 
Mark Dewart 
John Josephitis 

    William Meyer 
 
Absent:   Eric Grenier 
 
Also Present:   Aaron Towle, Village Clerk 

Drew Irvin, Village Administrator 
    Peter Friedman, Village Attorney 
    Susan Griffin, Finance Director 
    Jeff Hansen, Village Engineer 

Michael Croak, Building Codes Supervisor  
David Belmonte, Police Chief    
Jake Terlap, Public Works Superintendent 
Brandon Stanick, Assistant to the Village Administrator (A to VA)  

  
2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

 
President O’Hara led the Pledge of Allegiance. 
 

3. CONSIDERATION OF THE MINUTES 
 
Trustee Josephitis moved to approve the October 26, 2015 Board of Trustees Meeting Minutes as 
presented.  Trustee Christensen seconded the motion.  The motion passed on a unanimous voice vote. 
 

4. NON-AGENDA ITEMS AND VISITORS 
 

There were no requests to address the Board. 
 

5. VILLAGE BOARD SETS THE ORDER OF THE MEETING 
 
 

 



Board Trustees Regular Meeting November 9, 2015 

2 
 

 
At the request of those present, Trustee Meyer moved to take Agenda Items #16, #17 and #11 then return 
to the regular order of the meeting.  Trustee Dewart seconded the motion.  The motion passed on a 
unanimous voice vote. 
 

6. ITEM #16 – AN ORDINANCE AMENDING ORDINANCES 98-25, 2004-10 AND 2010-27 
CONCERNING THE EXISTING SPECIAL USE PERMIT FOR THE PERSONAL WIRELESS 
FACILITY AT THE PUBLIC SAFETY BUILDING (45 E. Center Avenue) 
 
President O’Hara reported over the past year the Village has negotiated an amendment to the site 
agreement with Crown Castle so as to allow T-Mobile to install additional communications equipment 
and antennae on the Village’s existing monopole behind the Public Safety Building (PSB).  In preparation 
of adding the T-Mobile service equipment to the existing monopole, the Village and T-Mobile filed a 
zoning petition (as Co-Petitioners) seeking an amendment to the existing Special Use Permit (SUP).  She 
further reported on October 21, 2015 the Plan Commission and Zoning Board of Appeals (PCZBA) 
conducted a public hearing and unanimously recommended the Village Board approve the amendment to 
the SUP for additional wireless antennae and related equipment.  At its meeting on November 3rd the 
Architectural Board of Review (ABR) conducted a public hearing and unanimously recommended the 
Village Board approve the following changes to the cell tower site plan: 
 

 Installation of new antennae equipment placed at a height of 123 ft. above the ground;  
 All new equipment match the existing color of the monopole; and  
 Installation of any non-antennae equipment not exceed the height of the existing brick enclosure 

at the rear of the PSB. 
 
As there were no questions, Trustee Dewart moved to approve first reading of the ordinance.  Trustee 
Josephitis seconded the motion.  The motion passed on the following roll call vote: 
 
Ayes:  (5)  Ankenman, Christensen, Dewart, Josephitis and Meyer 
Nays:  (0) 
Absent: (1) Grenier 
 

7. ITEM #17 – A RESOLUTION APPROVING A THIRD AMENDMENT TO THE SITE 
AGREEMENT BY AND BETWEEN THE VILLAGE AND CROWN CASTLE (NCWPCS MPL 
22 – YEAR SITES TOWER HOLDINGS LLC) REGARDING THE USE OF THE VILLAGE’S 
PERSONAL WIRELESS FACILITY LOCATED AT THE PUBLIC SAFETY BUILDING (45 E. 
Center Avenue) 
 
President O’Hara reported over the past year the Village has negotiated an amendment to the site 
agreement with Crown Castle so as to allow T-Mobile to install additional communications equipment 
and antennae on the Village’s existing monopole behind the Public Safety Building.  Consistent with the 
direction from the Village Board, the terms of this amendment are as follows: 
 

 Only T-Mobile will be permitted to install wireless communication facilities at the Public Safety 
Building monopole site; 

 Crown Castle will not be responsible for installing a generator to serve the monopole 
telecommunications carriers (AT&T never installed this as part of the recent monopole 
replacement); 
 



Board Trustees Regular Meeting November 9, 2015 

3 
 

 
 The Village will receive additional rent from Crown Castle in the amount of $1,169/month with 

an annual escalation of 3% (represents 50% of revenue from the T-Mobile and Crown Castle 
Lease Agreement); and 

 The term of this amendment will correspond with the existing lease.  
 
Trustee Dewart asked if T-Mobile plans to install a back-up power generator. Village Administrator Drew 
Irvin stated AT&T was given zoning authority to install a generator when the tower was rebuilt.  The 
generator was to serve all the existing telecommunication carriers; however, AT&T did not have the 
obligation to complete the installation. 
 
Elton Manion, a representative of T-Mobile, stated the proposed plans do not include a generator at the 
facility. 
 
Trustee Meyer asked if these type of facilities require a back-up generator. Mr. Manion stated there are 
battery back-ups installed on the monopole for emergency communication purposes. 
 
As there were no further questions, Trustee Christensen moved to adopt the resolution. Trustee Meyer 
seconded the motion. The motion passed on the following roll call vote: 
 
Ayes:  (5) Christensen, Dewart, Josephitis, Meyer and Ankenman 
Nays:  (0) 
Absent: (1) Grenier 
 

8. ITEM #11 – A RESOLUTION ESTIMATING THE AMOUNT OF THE ANNUAL 
AGGREGATE 2015 PROPERTY TAX LEVY 
 
President O’Hara reported annually the Village is statutorily required to estimate the funds to be raised 
from taxes on real property in the Village prior to the adoption of the levy.  This is an estimate and does 
not limit the Board’s ability to levy a different amount provided it is in compliance with the Truth in 
Taxation Law and all applicable notice and hearing provisions. 
 
President O’Hara reported the Finance Committee, at their October 31st meeting, reviewed the 2015 levy 
projections and recommended approval of an aggregate property tax levy of $4,079,460 or 1.39% more 
than the 2014 property tax extension. The Village share of the property tax levy is $3,193,412 and the 
Library’s share is estimated at $886,048.  She further reported at this time, the Library Board has not 
submitted its levy request.  This levy comprises new construction equalized assessed valuation (EAV) 
estimated at $2.98 million and a CPI factor of 0.8%. The total EAV is projected to increase by 7% to $513 
million. This estimated levy is in compliance with the amount allowed under the Property Tax Limitation 
Act.  In addition, she noted the first reading of the 2015 tax levy ordinance and the public hearing will be 
held on Monday, November 23rd. 
 
Finance Director Susan Griffin stated the estimated levy is in compliance with the Property Tax Limitation 
Act.  She stated new construction EAV appears low at $2.98 million because the Target commercial 
development opened in July, 2015 and will be partially on the tax role.  Finance Director Griffin stated it 
will take a few years for the full value of a commercial development to be fully on the tax roles as new 
construction.  In addition, she confirmed the new construction CPI factor is .08% or .008. 
 
 



Board Trustees Regular Meeting November 9, 2015 

4 
 

 
President O’Hara asked if the Village has received any sales tax revenue from the State.  Finance Director 
Griffin stated sales tax revenue for new developments has been received for the month of August.  She 
noted it is too preliminary to know the exact figures associated with the new Target Development. She 
commented on automobile sales and noted incentive programs and year end sale events are a significant 
factors in automobile sales.   
 
President O’Hara provided information regarding ongoing actions of the State Legislature and noted the 
State continues to withhold Motor Fuel Tax and E911 tax revenues.  She stated this is a preliminary levy 
and the final levy will be considered at the December 2015 meeting.  The final levy may reflect different 
figures due to the condition of the State, but will remain in compliance with the Property Tax Limitation 
Act.    
 
Cynthia Stemler, a Village resident, expressed her concern regarding the proposed tax increase and 
presented a signed petition regarding taxation in the community that was recently sent to the Board.  Ms. 
Stemler stated that she recently learned of the intent of School District #65 to announce an extension that 
would increase taxes by 7%.   She stated currently each tax levy body operates in a silo and noted most of 
assessed values increased this year and the increase being a percentage in the overall budget will impact 
taxes paid by residents.  Ms. Stemler asked the Village to consider not increasing taxes to the maximum 
amount in the future and to interact with the other Boards to slow the growth of taxes throughout the 
community. 
 
President O’Hara expressed her understanding regarding the concerns expressed by Ms. Stemler and 
stated the Village has no control over the EAV which has a tremendous effect on the tax rate and how it 
is distributed to individual homeowners.  President O’Hara stated future planning would be to have the 
Tri-Board, which consist of the Village, Lake Bluff Park District and School District #65, hold discussions 
prior to consideration of the tax levies. 
 
President O’Hara stated the Village is concerned with the tax increase but there are a variety of factors 
beyond the Village’s control, such as the Police Pension, currently funded at 54% and by law has to be 
funded 90% by 2040.  She stated the Village will continue to monitor the issue and thanked Ms. Stemler 
for her comments. 
 
As there were no further questions, Trustee Josephitis moved to adopt the resolution. Trustee Ankenman 
seconded the motion. The motion passed on a unanimous voice vote. 
 

9. ITEM #6A – WARRANT REPORT FOR NOVEMBER 1-15, 2015 AND OCTOBER 2015 
PAYROLL EXPENDITURES 
 
President O’Hara reported expenditure of Village funds for payment of invoices in the amount of 
$227,400.66 for November 1-15, 2015. 
 
President O’Hara reported expenditure of Village funds for payroll in the amount of $417,771.13 for 
October 2015. 
 
As such, the total Expenditures for this period is in the amount of $645,171.79. 
 
As there were no comments from the Board, Trustee Christensen moved to approve the Warrant Reports.   
Trustee Meyer seconded the motion.  The motion passed on the following roll call vote: 



Board Trustees Regular Meeting November 9, 2015 

5 
 

 
Ayes:  (5) Dewart, Josephitis, Meyer, Ankenman and Christensen 
Nays:  (0) 
Absent: (1) Grenier 
 

10. ITEM #6B – OCTOBER 2015 FINANCIAL REPORT 
 
At President O’Hara’s request, Finance Director Susan Griffin stated there is not much new information 
in this report because the last finance report was presented at the October 26th meeting.  She then provided 
a brief summary of the October 2015 Finance Report and highlighted major revenue sources and 
expenditures for the period.  
 

 Sales tax revenue for May-July 2015 is $683,000 which is $25,000 or 4% greater than 2014.  
Home rule sales tax of $174,000 is $23,000 or 15% greater than 2014;   

 May has traditionally been the largest monthly receipt of state shared income tax revenue due to 
the filing of taxes in April. At $332,000 May-October 2015 revenue is 15% greater than the same 
period in 2014; 

 Building permit revenue represents 52% of the annual budget projection, as expected; 
 Capital project expenditures exceed the same period in 2014 by $620,000; and 
 Water billed consumption is down 9.334 million gallons. This resulted in a decline in water sales 

of $50,000 (after accounting for the change in water rates). 
 
Finance Director Griffin stated Staff will continue to closely monitor the actions in Springfield and assess 
the implications to the Village of potential changes in State-shared revenue allocations, property tax 
limitations and pension reform. 

 
Trustee Dewart moved to accept the Finance Report. Trustee Josephitis seconded the motion.  The motion 
passed on a unanimous voice vote. 
 

11. ITEM #7A – VILLAGE ADMINISTRATOR’S REPORT CONCERNING AN 
INFORMATIONAL REPORT REGARDING THE FY2015 VILLAGE CANOPY TREE 
PLANTING PILOT PROGRAM (Native Tree Sale) 
 
Public Works Superintendent Jake Terlap stated the Village had partnered with Lake Bluff Open Lands 
Association (LBOLA)  for a one week pilot program that offered the sale of four varieties of Oaks (Red, 
Swamp White, Bur and Chinquapin) at the Public Works Facility.  He stated LBOLA offered delivery and 
installation for an additional charge of $25.00.  There were a total of 33 trees purchase and 26 were sold 
and the seven unsold trees were planted in various locations in the Village.  Public Works Superintendent 
Terlap stated should the program move forward it should be a one day event preferably held on Saturday 
on the Village Green. 
 
Village Administrator Irvin stated this was a successful program and suggested it be included in next 
year’s budget.    
 
In response to a comment from the Board, Public Works Superintendent Terlap stated the total cost for 
the trees was $4,200, which was less than the budgeted amount of $4,500 for the pilot program. 
 
 
 



Board Trustees Regular Meeting November 9, 2015 

6 
 

 
Trustee Christensen moved to accept the report.  Trustee Meyer seconded the motion. The motion passed 
on a unanimous voice vote. 
 
On a separate matter, Village Administrator Irvin stated the Committee-of-the-Whole (COW) previously 
discussed outdoor construction and property maintenance regulations and Staff was given direction to 
prepare draft regulations to be shared with local landscapers.  Since that time Staff has met with and 
received feedback from Mariani Landscaping and is currently waiting on feedback from two other 
landscaping firms.  He stated once the feedback has been received the draft ordinance will be presented 
to the COW at a future meeting. 
 

12. ITEM #8 - VILLAGE ATTORNEY’S REPORT 
 
Village Attorney Peter Friedman had no report. 
 

13. ITEM #9 – VILLAGE PRESIDENT’S REPORT  
 
President O’Hara encouraged everyone to attend the annual Veteran’s Day Ceremony, sponsored by 
American Legion Post 510, on November 11th (9:00 a.m.) on the Village Green.   
 

14. ITEM #10 – ACCEPTANCE OF THE CORRESPONDENCE 
 
President O’Hara introduced the correspondence from the Informational Reports on October 23 and 30, 
2015. 
 
Trustee Ankenman moved to accept the correspondence as submitted. Trustee Josephitis seconded the 
motion.  The motion passed on a unanimous voice vote. 
 

15. ITEM #12 – RECEIPT OF FY2014-15 COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT 
(CAFR) 
 
President O’Hara reported the Village received an unmodified opinion from its auditors, Sikich LLP, that the 
financial statements are fairly presented in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles. This 
represents the highest opinion that an organization can receive. The CAFR is comprised of the basic financial 
statements with footnotes, a transmittal letter, a management and discussion analysis, detailed fund level 
statements with budget comparisons, and statistical information for the past ten years.  
 
President O’Hara reported at their October 31st meeting the Finance Committee reviewed the draft CAFR, 
met with Daniel Berg, Partner with Sikich, and voted unanimously to recommend to the Village Board 
acceptance of the CAFR.  The CAFR is available on the Village’s website and a printed, bound copy is 
available for public viewing at the Village Hall, the Public Safety Building, and at the Lake Bluff Library. 
 
Finance Director Griffin thanked the Village Board and Assistant Finance Director Marlene Scheibl for 
their support throughout the process. 
 
Trustee Dewart congratulated Staff on another successful audit.   
 
 
 



Board Trustees Regular Meeting November 9, 2015 

7 
 

 
Trustee Meyer moved to accept the FY2014-15 CAFR. Trustee Dewart seconded the motion.  The motion 
passed on a unanimous voice vote.  
 

16. ITEM #13 – A RESOLUTION APPROVING A SITE PLAN FOR BERNIE’S BOOK BANK AT 
917 NORTH SHORE DRIVE 
 
President O’Hara reported on June 22, 2015 the Village Board approved a resolution approving a site plan 
review for Bernie’s Book Bank, which is a charitable organization that is relocating to the building at 917 
North Shore Drive.  The petitioner is requesting approval of revisions to that design.  They are proposing 
a smaller wall sign, the elimination of the previously proposed solid canopy at the entrance, and the 
elimination of the vertical trellises. 
 
President O’Hara reported the ABR reviewed the proposed building changes and the proposed signs at its 
November 3, 2015 meeting.  The ABR approved the sign and unanimously recommended that the Village 
Board approve the building alterations.  In preparation for the Village Board’s consideration of the request, 
the neighboring property owners have been notified of the meeting date and a resolution has been prepared 
transmitting the ABR’s recommendation.  
 
In response to a question from Trustee Christensen regarding the changes, Building Codes Supervisor 
Michael Croak stated the Petitioner did not inform Staff of their reason for the proposed changes. 
 
As there were no further questions, Trustee Christensen moved to adopt the resolution. Trustee Josephitis 
seconded the motion. The motion passed on the following roll call vote: 
 
Ayes:  (5) Josephitis, Meyer, Ankenman, Christensen and Dewart 
Nays:  (0) 
Absent: (1) Grenier 
 

17. ITEM #14 – A RESOLUTION APPROVING AN AMENDED AND RESTATED LANDSCAPE 
WASTE COMPOSTING AGREEMENT BY AND BETWEEN THE VILLAGE OF LAKE 
BLUFF AND DK ORGANICS, LLC 
 
President O’Hara reported since 1994 the Village has contracted with DK Organics of Lake Bluff, Illinois 
(DK) for the processing of all yard waste delivered to the Public Works Center by Village crews and 
residents (Agreement).  In November of 2008 the Village reviewed and renewed the Agreement with DK 
and again extended the Agreement on November 25, 2013 for a period of 2 years. The Village and DK’s 
partnership continues to be mutually beneficial in that the Village reduces its fees for household waste 
collection, secures quality materials for Village and resident landscape needs, and furthers the Village’s 
sustainability efforts (reducing carbon footprint and locally recycling yard waste), while DK secures an 
overflow location for their operations which are largely done off Village property.  Over the last several 
months Village Staff has researched alternative service providers and, largely due to logistics and value, 
is again recommending extending the Village’s Agreement with DK.  Specifically, Village staff 
recommends extending the contract with DK Organics for a period of 3 years maintaining the terms of the 
Agreement the same with the following suggested changes: 
 

 Move to a flat fee of $29,500 per year; 
 DK will provide Village access to high quality compost materials (up to 250 yards of “super 

fines” screened compost material) in addition to landscape mulch;  



Board Trustees Regular Meeting November 9, 2015 

8 
 

 
 DK and the Village will share the installation fees (not to exceed $3,000) for a gate to provide 

added site security; 
 DK has agreed to accept food scrap waste at their site in North Chicago for no additional charge 

to Village, should the Village initiate a food scrap collection program with Groot; and 
 120-day escape clause for the Village has been included. 

 
On October 31, 2015 the Village Finance Committee discussed the proposed changes to the Agreement 
and unanimously recommended the Village Board approve the amendment and restatement as presented. 
 
As there were no questions, Trustee Josephitis moved to adopt the resolution. Trustee Dewart seconded 
the motion. The motion passed on the following roll call vote: 
 
Ayes:  (5) Meyer, Ankenman, Christensen, Dewart and Josephitis 
Nays:  (0) 
Absent: (1) Grenier 
 

18. ITEM #15 – A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION OF AN 
INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE VILLAGE AND THE ILLINOIS 
DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION (IDOT) FOR CONSTRUCTION OF THE 
SHERIDAN ROAD PEDESTRIAN PATH PROJECTS 
 
President O’Hara reported the FY2016 Capital Improvement Plan includes funding for the construction 
of a path along the Sheridan Road Cutoff to connect from the existing sidewalk on the north side of the 
Village’s Public Safety Building, through a portion of Artesian Park, and cross Sheridan Road to connect 
to the Robert McClory Bike Trail.  Also included are pedestrian crossing improvements at the intersection 
of Sheridan Road and McKinley Road connecting the east side of Sheridan Road to the Robert McClory 
Bike Trail.  The Village and IDOT secured a grant to fund the project with 80% of the costs to be funded 
by the State and 20% to be funded by the Village.     
 
President O’Hara reported the project plans were completed by the Village’s consultant, Gewalt Hamilton 
Associates, and IDOT is preparing to let the project for bids with anticipated construction in the summer 
of 2016.  Prior to letting the project for bids, IDOT is requiring that the Village execute the Local Agency 
Agreement and appropriate the Village share of the construction and construction engineering costs.   
 
In addition, President O’Hara reported the estimated Village share the project is $35,913.  The Village’s 
FY2016 Budget includes a total of $25,000 project.  The budgeted amount was based on prior project cost 
estimates, and the estimates have risen as the final design was completed.  It is recommended that 
additional monies be allocated for the project and the agreement be adopted to complete the improvements 
as planned.   
 
Trustee Christensen inquired of the increase in cost. Village Engineer Jeff Hansen stated the State 
determined there is potential soil contamination and the cost estimate increased due to the potential that 
the soil would have to be disposed of at a landfill.  Village Engineer Hansen stated the approved resolution 
must be submitted before IDOT lets the project in January, construction is anticipated in the summer of 
2016.   
 
As there were no further questions, Trustee Meyer moved to adopt the resolution. Trustee Christensen 
seconded the motion. The motion passed on the following roll call vote: 



Board Trustees Regular Meeting November 9, 2015 

9 
 

 
Ayes:  (5) Ankenman, Christensen, Dewart, Josephitis and Meyer 
Nays:  (0) 
Absent: (1) Grenier 
 

19. ITEM #18 – TRUSTEE’S REPORT 
 
There was no Trustee’s Report. 
 

20. ITEM #20 – ADJOURNMENT 
 
Trustee Meyer moved to adjourn the regular meeting.  Trustee Josephitis seconded the motion and the 
motion passed on a unanimous voice vote.  The meeting adjourned at 7:50 p.m. 
 
 
Respectfully Submitted, 
 
 
 
______________________________  _____________________________ 
R. Drew Irvin      Aaron Towle 
Village Administrator     Village Clerk 



VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 
REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION 

 
            Agenda Item:  6a 
  
 
Subject: 

 
WARRANT REPORT FOR NOVEMBER 16-30, 2015  

 
Action Requested: 

 
APPROVAL OF DISBURSEMENTS (Roll Call Vote) 

 
Originated By: 

 
DIRECTOR OF FINANCE 

  
Referred To: 

 
VILLAGE BOARD 

 
Summary of Background and Reason For Request: 
 
Expenditure of Village funds for payment of invoices in the amount of $221,464.20 for 
November 16-30, 2015. 
 
Total Expenditures of $221,464.20 
 
Reports and Documents Attached: 
 
1. Warrant Report for November 16-30, 2015  $221,464.20 (dated 11/23/15) 
 

Note that the warrant report designates those checks issued prior to the Board’s 
formal approval as manual checks “M” on the Warrant Report.  These are checks that 
are prepared in advance of the warrant due to contractual or governmental/payroll tax 
obligations; to obtain a discount; or for extenuating circumstances that may arise.  

 
Village Administrator’s Recommendation:   
 
Approval of Warrant in the total amount of $221,464.20 
 
 
Date Referred to Village Board: 11/23/2015 
 

























































VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 
REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION 

 
         Agenda Item: 7a 

 
 
Subject: 

REQUEST FROM LAKE BLUFF SCHOOL DISTRICT 65 TO WAIVE 
DEVELOPMENT FEES FOR PLANNED RENOVATIONS OF LAKE 
BLUFF MIDDLE SCHOOL LOCATED AT 31 E. SHERIDAN PLACE 

  
Action Requested: CONSIDERATION OF THE REQUEST (Voice Vote) 
  
Originated By: VILLAGE STAFF 
  
Referred To:  VILLAGE BOARD 
 
Summary of Background and Reason For Request: 
 
On November 17, 2015 the Village received the attached letter from Superintendent of Schools 
Dr. Jean Sophie, requesting a waiver of all fees associated with the following capital 
projections/renovations: i) complete renovation of the entire existing Lake Bluff Middle School 
building with the exception of the band room and the gym, ii) addition of a wing that will house 
the fine arts classes as well as a wing that will house an additional five classrooms that allows us 
to get most classrooms out of the existing basement, iii) a storage facility housed on the current 
Lake Bluff Middle School site in the southwest corner of the lot, and iv) renovation of the 
current basement at Lake Bluff Middle School that allows the District Offices to move into that 
existing space.  While the Regional Office of Education for Lake County will be issuing the 
building permit and occupancy permit associated with this project, the School District must 
follow the Village’s development review process and pay the associated fees as a petitioner.  It is 
estimated that, without a waiver, the development fees for the project will total $3,000. 
 
Similar requests have been considered on a case-by-case basis for other non-profit and 
governmental organizations.    

Reports and Documents Attached: 
 

 A Copy of the Letter Dated November 12, 2015. 
  

Village Administrator’s Recommendation:   Consideration of the Request. 
 
Date Referred to Village Board: 11/23/2015 
 





 
VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 

REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION 
         

     Agenda Item:  11 
 

Subject: 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING ORDINANCES 98-25, 2004-10 AND 
2010-27 CONCERNING THE EXISTING SPECIAL USE PERMIT FOR 
THE PERSONAL WIRELESS FACILITY AT THE PUBLIC SAFETY 
BUILDING (45 E. CENTER AVENUE)  

 
Action Requested: 

 
SECOND READING APPROVAL (Roll Call Vote) 

 
Originated By: 

 
T-MOBILE CENTRAL, LLC & VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF  
(Co-Petitioners) 

 
Referred To:  

 
PLAN COMMISSION & ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 
ARCHITECTURAL BOARD OF REVIEW 

 
Summary of Background and Reason For Request: 
 
Over the past year the Village has negotiated an amendment to the site agreement with Crown Castle 
so as to allow T-Mobile to install additional communications equipment and antennae on the 
Village’s existing monopole behind the Public Safety Building (PSB).  In preparation of adding the 
T-Mobile service equipment to the existing monopole, the Village and T-Mobile filed a zoning 
petition (as Co-Petitioners) seeking an amendment to the existing Special Use Permit (SUP).  On 
October 21, 2015 the Plan Commission and Zoning Board of Appeals (PCZBA) conducted a public 
hearing and unanimously recommended the Village Board approve the amendment to the SUP for 
additional wireless antennae and related equipment.  At its meeting on November 3rd the 
Architectural Board of Review (ABR) conducted a public hearing and unanimously recommended 
the Village Board approve the following changes to the cell tower site plan: 

 Installation of new antennae equipment placed at a height of 123 ft. above the ground;  
 All new equipment match the existing color of the monopole; and  
 Installation of any non-antennae equipment not exceed the height of the existing brick 

enclosure at the rear of the PSB. 
 
The Village Board approved first reading of the ordinance at its meeting on November 9, 2015 
 
Reports and Documents Attached: 
 

 Ordinance Amending Existing SUP for the Telecommunications Tower 
 
The following documents were provided as part of the November 9th Village Board Agenda Packet: 

 
 Zoning Application and Site Plan Documents; 
 PCZBA Staff Report Dated October 16, 2015 (without attachments); and 
 ABR Staff Report Dated October 30, 2015 (without attachments).  

 
PCZBA’s Recommendation:    Approval of the Ordinance. 
ABR’s Recommendation:     Approval of the Ordinance.  
Village Administrator’s Recommendation:    Second Reading Approval of the Ordinance. 
 
Date Referred to Village Board: 11/23/2015 



 

 
 
 
 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 2015-__ 
 
 
 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING ORDINANCES 98-25, 2004-10 AND 2010-27 CONCERNING 
THE EXISTING SPECIAL USE PERMIT FOR THE PERSONAL WIRELESS FACILITY AT 

THE PUBLIC SAFETY BUILDING (45 E. CENTER AVENUE) 

 
(Public Safety Building, 45 E. Center Avenue) 

 
 
 

Passed by the Board of Trustees,  ________________, 2015 

Printed and Published,  __________________, 2015 
 
 
 
 

Printed and Published in Pamphlet Form 
by Authority of the 

President and Board of Trustees 

VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 
LAKE COUNTY, ILLINOIS 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
I hereby certify that this document 
was properly published on the date 
stated above. 
 
 
 
      
Village Clerk 



-2- 

ORDINANCE NO. 2015-__ 
 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING ORDINANCES 98-25, 2004-10 AND 2010-27 CONCERNING 
THE EXISTING SPECIAL USE PERMIT FOR THE PERSONAL WIRELESS FACILITY AT 

THE PUBLIC SAFETY BUILDING (45 E. CENTER AVENUE) 

(Public Safety Building, 45 E. Center Avenue) 
 

WHEREAS, the Village operates a personal wireless services antenna tower 
(“Tower”) on the property owned by the Village and used as the Village’s public safety facility 
("Facility"), which property is located at 45 East Center Avenue in the Village's "CBD" Central 
Business District and is legally described in Exhibit A to this Ordinance (“Subject Property”); 
and, 

WHEREAS, the Village received a special use permit pursuant to Ordinance 98-
25 to operate the Tower and related facilities at the Facility (“Special Use Permit”), which 
special use permit was amended pursuant to Ordinance 2004-10 and 2012-27 to allow 
additional wireless services providers to locate equipment on the Tower; and,   

WHEREAS, the Village and co-applicant T-Mobile Central LLC (collectively, 
“Applicant”), desire to install additional antennas and related equipment for use by T-Mobile on 
and around the Tower (collectively, the “T-Mobile Improvements”); and, 

WHEREAS, following a public hearing, the Joint Plan Commission and Zoning 
Board of Appeals has recommended, and the Board of Trustees has determined, that it would 
be in the best interest of the Village to approve the Improvements and amend the Special Use 
Permit in accordance with, and subject to, the conditions, restrictions, and provisions of this 
Ordinance; and, 

WHEREAS, the Lake Bluff Architectural Board of Review has reviewed the 
plans, drawings, specifications, and other documents and materials submitted to them by the 
Applicant concerning the T-Mobile Improvements at a public meeting on November 2, 2015; 
and,  

WHEREAS, the Village Board has determined that it is in the best interest of the 
Village and its residents to amend the Special Use Permit as set forth in this ordinance. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE PRESIDENT AND BOARD OF 
TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF, LAKE COUNTY, ILLINOIS, AS FOLLOWS: 

Section 1. Recitals.  

The foregoing recitals are incorporated herein as the findings of the Lake Bluff 
Board of Trustees. 

Section 2. Public Hearing.  

A public hearing to consider the application for the T-Mobile Improvements was 
duly advertised on or before October 6, 2015, in the Lake County News-Sun, and held by the 
Lake Bluff Joint Plan Commission and Zoning Board of Appeals on October 21, 2015, on which 
date the PCZBA recommended that the Board of Trustees approve amending the Special Use 
Permit to allow for the construction and installation of the T-Mobile Improvements subject to the 
conditions set forth in Section 5 of this Ordinance. 



-3- 

 Section 3. Special Use Permit Amendment Approval. 

Pursuant to the standards and procedures set forth in Section 10-4-2E and 10-
6A-2 of the Lake Bluff Zoning Regulations and subject to and contingent on the conditions in 
Section 5 this Ordinance, the Board of Trustees hereby approves an amendment to the Special 
Use Permit for the installation and operation of the T-Mobile Improvements at the Facility on the 
Subject Property. 

Section 4. Conditions.  

The approvals granted in Sections 3 and 4 of this Ordinance are hereby 
expressly subject to and contingent on each of the following conditions, restrictions, and 
provisions: 

A. Compliance with Application.  The T-Mobile Improvements, the Facility, 
and the Subject Property must be constructed, used, and maintained in substantial accordance 
with the Applicant’s October 6, 2015, Zoning Application and accompanying documents 
attached to this Ordinance as Exhibit C.  

B. Compliance with Applicable Law.  In addition to the other specific 
requirements of this Ordinance, the T-Mobile Improvements, the Facility, the Subject Property, 
and all operations conducted thereon and therein must comply at all times with all applicable 
federal, state, and Village statutes, ordinances, resolutions, rules, codes, and regulations, 
including without limitation this Ordinance. 

C. Continued Effect.  All provisions of Ordinances 98-25, 2004-10, and 
2012-27 that do not directly conflict with the provisions of this Ordinance remain in full force and 
effect.  To the extent any conflict exists between Ordinances 98-25, 2004-10, 2012-27 and this 
Ordinance regarding the T-Mobile Improvements, this Ordinance shall control. 

D. Equipment Placement.  All equipment located at the base of the tower 
shall be installed within the brick enclosure located at the rear of the Facility and shall not be 
exceed the height of the brick wall. 

Section 5. Failure To Comply With Conditions.  

Upon failure or refusal of the Applicant to comply with any or all of the conditions, 
restrictions, or provisions of this Ordinance, the approvals granted in Sections 3 and 4 of this 
Ordinance will, at the sole discretion of the Village Board of Trustees, by ordinance duly 
adopted, be revoked and become null and void. 

Section 6. Binding Effect.  

The privileges, obligations, and provisions of each and every section of this 
Ordinance are for the benefit of and bind the Applicant, unless otherwise explicitly set forth in 
this Ordinance.  Nothing in this Ordinance will be deemed to allow this Ordinance to be 
transferred to any person or entity other than the Applicant without a new application for 
approval.  

Section 7. Effective Date.  

A. This Ordinance will be effective only upon the occurrence of all of the 
following events: 



-4- 

i. Passage by the Board of Trustees of the Village of Lake Bluff in the 
manner required by law; and 

ii. Publication in pamphlet form in the manner required by law; and 

iii. The filing by the Applicant with the Village Clerk, for recording in the 
Office of the Lake County Recorder of Deeds, of an unconditional 
agreement and consent to accept and abide by each and all of the terms, 
conditions, and limitations set forth in this Ordinance.  The unconditional 
agreement and consent must be executed by the Applicant.  The 
unconditional agreement and consent must be substantially in the form 
attached hereto and incorporated herein as Exhibit D. 

B. In the event that the Applicant does not file with the Village Clerk the 
unconditional agreement and consent required by Paragraph 8.A(iii) of this Ordinance within 60 
days after the date of final passage of this Ordinance, the Village Board of Trustees will have 
the right, in their sole discretion, to declare this Ordinance null and void and of no force or effect.  

PASSED this __ day of ________________, 2015, by vote of the Board of Trustees of the 
Village of Lake Bluff, as follows: 

AYES:  
  
NAYS:    

ABSTAIN:   

ABSENT:  

APPROVED this ___ day of _________, 2015. 
 
               
       Village President  
ATTEST: 
 
     
Village Clerk 
 
FIRST READING:  November 9, 2015 

SECOND READING:  ______________________________ 

PASSED:   ______________________________ 

APPROVED:   ______________________________ 

PUBLISHED IN PAMPHLET FORM:  _______________________ 



 

Exhibit A 

Description of Subject Property 
 

PT SW 1/4 NW 1/4; IRREG TRACT OF LAND CONTAINING 1.75 ACS. LYG N OF ARTESIAN 
LAKE PARK & S OF NORTH ADD TO LAKE BLUFF SECTION 21 TOWNSHIP 44 RANGE 12 
 
PIN # 12-21-100-003 
 
Commonly known as the Public Safety Building, 45 E. Center Avenue, Lake Bluff, IL 
 



-2- 

Exhibit B 
 

Zoning Application 
 



 

 

Exhibit C 
 

Applicant’s Unconditional Agreement and Consent 

TO: The Village of Lake Bluff, Illinois (“Village”): 

WHEREAS, the Village operates a personal wireless services antenna tower 
(“Tower”) on the property owned by the Village and used as the Village’s public safety facility 
("Facility"), which property is located at 45 East Center Avenue in the Village's "CBD" Central 
Business District and is legally described in Exhibit A to this Ordinance (“Subject Property”); 
and, 

WHEREAS, the Village received a special use permit pursuant to Ordinance 98-
25 to operate the Tower and related facilities at the Facility (“Special Use Permit”), which 
special use permit was amended pursuant to Ordinance 2004-10 and 2012-27 to allow 
additional wireless services providers to locate equipment on the Tower; and,   

WHEREAS, the Village and co-applicant T-Mobile Central LLC (collectively, 
“Applicant”), desire to install additional antennas and related equipment for use by T-Mobile on 
and around the Tower (collectively, the “T-Mobile Improvements”); and, 

WHEREAS, following a public hearing, the Joint Plan Commission and Zoning 
Board of Appeals has recommended, and the Board of Trustees has determined, that it would 
be in the best interest of the Village to approve the Improvements and amend the Special Use 
Permit in accordance with, and subject to, the conditions, restrictions, and provisions of this 
Ordinance; and, 

WHEREAS, Ordinance No. ___________, adopted by the President and Board 
of Trustees of the Village of Lake Bluff on _____________, 2015, (“Ordinance”) approves the 
requested amendment to the Special Use Permit for the Property, subject to certain 
modifications, conditions, restrictions, and provisions; and, 

WHEREAS, Subsection 7.B of the Ordinance provides, among other things, that 
the Ordinance will be of no force or effect unless and until the Applicant files with the Village 
Clerk, within 60 days following the passage of the Ordinance, its unconditional agreement and 
consent to accept and abide by each of the terms, conditions and limitations set forth in said 
Ordinance. 

NOW, THEREFORE, the Applicant does hereby agree and covenant as follows: 

1. The Applicant hereby unconditionally agrees to accept, consent to, and 
abide by all of the terms, conditions, restrictions, and provisions of the Ordinance. 

2. The Applicant acknowledges that public notices and hearings have been 
properly given and held with respect to the adoption of the Ordinance, has considered the 
possibility of the revocation provided for in the Ordinance, and agrees not to challenge any such 
revocation on the grounds of any procedural infirmity or a denial of any procedural right. 

3. The Applicant acknowledges and agrees that the Village is not and will 
not be, in any way, liable for any damages or injuries that may be sustained as a result of the 
Village’s issuance of any permits for the use of the T-Mobile Improvements, the Facility, and the 
Subject Property, including, without limitation, the special use permit approved in the Ordinance, 
and that the Village’s issuance of any such permits or approvals does not, and will not, in any 
way, be deemed to insure the Applicant against damage or injury of any kind and at any time. 



 

4. The Applicant agrees to and does hereby hold harmless and indemnify 
the Village, the Village’s corporate authorities, and all Village elected and appointed officials, 
officers, employees, agents, representatives, and attorneys, from any and all claims that may, at 
any time, be asserted against any of such parties in connection with the operation and use of 
the T-Mobile Improvements, the Facility, or the Subject Property, or the Village’s adoption of the 
Ordinance. 

 

 
Dated: ____________, 2015. 
 
ATTEST:      VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 
 
 
By:       By:        
 
Its:       Its:        
 
ATTEST:      T-MOBILE CENTRAL LLC 
 
 
By:       By:        
 
Its:       Its:        
 
 



 VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 
REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION 

 
         Agenda Item: 12 

 
 
Subject: 

AN ORDINANCE ADOPTING BY REFERENCE THE LAKE COUNTY 
WATERSHED DEVELOPMENT ORDINANCE 

  
Action Requested: FIRST READING APPROVAL (Roll Call Vote) 
  
Originated By: VILLAGE STAFF 
  
Referred To:  VILLAGE BOARD 
 
Summary of Background and Reason For Request: 
 
In 1992 the County of Lake adopted a comprehensive Watershed Development Ordinance (WDO) for 
purposes of setting forth minimum requirements for the stormwater aspects of development throughout 
Lake County.  Each municipality within Lake County was required to adopt and enforce the provisions 
of the Ordinance.   In response, Lake Bluff adopted the WDO for the first time on October 12, 1992.  
Since the time of the initial adoption, the WDO has been amended countywide on seven separate 
occasions, most recently in 2013.  On October 13, 2015 the Lake County Board adopted the amended 
countywide WDO.  Following the most recent amendments, the Lake County Stormwater Management 
Commission notified all municipalities in Lake County, including Lake Bluff, that they must adopt the 
newly amended version of the Ordinance by February 17, 2016.     

The amended WDO has been reformatted to make it more user friendly including revisions to the 
Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) map effective dates and panel numbers, as well as 
various other revisions.  Adoption of the updated WDO is necessary in order for Lake Bluff to remain 
in good standing in the FEMA National Flood Insurance Program (NFIP) and to maintain Lake Bluff’s 
community certification status with the Lake County Stormwater Management Commission.   The 
amendments do not result in any major change to the overall administration and enforcement of the 
WDO.   The Village Engineer recommends approval of the Ordinance with second reading of the 
ordinance to follow after 30 days. 

Reports and Documents Attached: 
 

1. A Copy of the Proposed Ordinance; 
2. Listing of new amendments to the WDO;  
3. Updated version of the WDO available for viewing at:  

http://www.lakecountyil.gov/Stormwater/Documents/Regulatory/WDO%202015/10-13-
2015%20Watershed%20Development%20Ordinance%20(WDO).pdf 

 
Village Administrator’s Recommendation:   Approval of the Ordinance. 
 
Date Referred to Village Board: 11/23/2015 
 



C:\Users\cweatherall\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Windows\Temporary Internet Files\Content.Outlook\BHDLR4TM\Watershed Development Ordinnace 
11_23_15.docx 1

 
 
 

VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 
 
 
 
 

ORDINANCE NO.  2016 - _____ 
 
 
 
 

AN ORDINANCE ADOPTING BY REFERENCE OF THE LAKE COUNTY  
WATERSHED DEVELOPMENT ORDINANCE 

 
 
 
 
 

ADOPTED BY THE 
 

PRESIDENT AND BOARD OF TRUSTEES 
 

OF THE 
 

VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 
 

THIS ____DAY OF JANUARY, 2016. 
 

 
 

 
 

PUBLISHED IN PAMPHLET FORM BY THE AUTHORITY OF THE PRESIDENT AND 
BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF ILLINOIS,  

THIS ____ DAY OF JANUARY, 2016. 
 

 
 
 

cweatherall
Typewritten Text
ATTACHMENT 1



C:\Users\cweatherall\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Windows\Temporary Internet Files\Content.Outlook\BHDLR4TM\Watershed Development Ordinnace 
11_23_15.docx 2

 
 
 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 2016 - _____ 
 
 

AN ORDINANCE ADOPTING BY REFERENCE OF THE LAKE COUNTY  
WATERSHED DEVELOPMENT ORDINANCE 

 
 

WHEREAS, the County of Lake, pursuant to the powers granted to it by 55 ILCS 5/5- 1062, 

adopted the Lake County Watershed Development Ordinance on or about October 13, 2015, effective 

October 13, 2015, establishing rules and regulations for floodplain and stormwater management 

throughout the County of Lake and superseding any less restrictive municipal rules and regulations 

therein; and, 

WHEREAS, the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Lake Bluff have previously 

adopted Ordinances No. 2013-18,  which adopted by reference the Lake County Watershed Development 

Ordinances; and, 

WHEREAS, the County of Lake, pursuant to the powers granted to it by 55 ILCS 5/5-1062, 

adopted a resolution approving amendments to the Lake County Watershed Development Ordinance on or 

about October 13, 2015, effective immediately; and, 

WHEREAS, the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Lake Bluff find it to be in the 

best interests of the Village of Lake Bluff  to require all development to meet, at least, the minimum 

standards prescribed by the WDO to the fullest extent practicable; and, 

WHEREAS, three copies of the Lake County Watershed Development Ordinance have been on 

file in the Office of the Village Clerk of the Village of Lake Bluff, and available for inspection, for not 

less than thirty (30) days. 



C:\Users\cweatherall\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Windows\Temporary Internet Files\Content.Outlook\BHDLR4TM\Watershed Development Ordinnace 
11_23_15.docx 3

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the President and Board of Trustees of the 

Village of Lake Bluff, Lake County, Illinois, as follows: 

SECTION I:   That there is hereby adopted by reference, as if fully set out herein, that certain 

ordinance known as the Lake County Watershed Development Ordinance, approved as amended by the 

County of Lake, State of Illinois, three copies of which have been, for a period of not less than thirty (30) 

days prior to the effective date hereof, and now are on file in the office of the Village Clerk. 

SECTION II:   That in the event that the rules, regulations, terms or conditions imposed pursuant 

to the Lake County Watershed Development Ordinance are either more restrictive or less restrictive than 

comparable rules, regulations, terms or conditions imposed by any other applicable rule, regulation, 

resolution, ordinance, statute or law, then the most restrictive rules, regulations, terms or conditions shall 

govern. 

SECTION III:   That Title 12 Chapter 1 of the Village Code of the Village of Lake Bluff is 

amended by deleting existing Section 1, and replacing it with the following: 

***:  COUNTY REGULATIONS ADOPTED: 
 

The Lake County Watershed Development Ordinance, as most recently amended by the County of 
Lake on October 13, 2015, is hereby adopted by reference and is in full force and effect within the 
Village of Lake Bluff and is found in its own compilation. 

 
SECTION IV:   That all ordinances and resolutions, or parts thereof, in conflict with the 

provisions of this Ordinance are, to the extent of such conflict, expressly repealed. 

SECTION V:   That this Ordinance shall be in full force and effect ten (10) days after its passage, 

approval and publication in pamphlet form, as provided by law. 

  



C:\Users\cweatherall\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Windows\Temporary Internet Files\Content.Outlook\BHDLR4TM\Watershed Development Ordinnace 
11_23_15.docx 4

PASSED and approved by the President and Board of Trustees  

of the Village of Lake Bluff, Lake County, Illinois,  

this _____ day of  January, 2016 by a roll call vote as follows: 

 

TRUSTEES  AYE  NAY   ABSENT/ABSTAIN 

1. Christensen ____  ____   ____ 

2. Dewart  ____  ____   ____ 

3. Grenier  ____  ____   ____ 

4. Josephitis  ____  ____   ____ 

5. Meyer  ____  ____   ____ 

6. Ankenman  ____  ____   ____ 

 

APPROVED THIS _____ DAY OF JANUARY, 2016; 
 
 
 

       By:______________________________ 
       PRESIDENT 

              VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF  
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_____________________________ 
Village Clerk 
 
 
 



Exhibit A 

U:\Regulatory Program\Certification\2015\WDO Adoption Information\County Board Approved WDO Amendments.docx 
 

Page 1 of 2  County Board Approved WDO Amendments  October 13, 2015  

Administrative 
WDO Re-formatting 
 
Purpose:  Under direction by the State’s Attorney’s Office, the WDO has been re-formatted. An improved 
referencing system is used and certain sections have been re-located and aligned making the entire document 
more user friendly, understandable, which can be quickly and logically referenced (for legal and general 
application). No substantive changes are included in the re-formatted WDO. A section cross-reference table is 
separately attached. 
 

Administrative 
WDO Amendment #1 
Page 82 – Article V.B. 
 

B. APPEALS 
 

1. Any permit applicant aggrieved by the denial or conditions of a Watershed Development Permit, Earth 
Change Approval, Conditional Approval, or Variance by a Certified Community’s Enforcement Officer 
may request review thereof by the Certified Community’s board of elected officials or the appropriate 
body within 30 days of the disputed act or actions. 

 
2. Any permit applicant aggrieved by a permit decision, the denial or conditions of a Watershed 

Development Permit, Earth Change Approval, Conditional Approval, or Variance by the SMC Chief 
Engineer may request review thereof by the SMC Director within 30 days of the disputed act or 
actions. 

 
3. Any permit applicant aggrieved by a permit decision, the denial or conditions of a Watershed 

Development Permit, Earth Change Approval, Conditional Approval, or Variance by the SMC Director 
may appeal it to the SMC by written notice filed with the SMC Director within 30 days of the disputed 
act or actions. 

 
Purpose: Clarify standard administrative process for SMC-reviewed permits and approvals. 
 

Administrative 
WDO Amendment #2 
Page 87 – Article VII.F. 
 

(i) F. The SMC may enforce violations of this Ordinance in accordance with the Lake County 

Administrative Adjudication Ordinance. 

 
Purpose: Improve compliance efficiencies using the Administrative Adjudication process as an additional 
compliance tool. Staff have conferred with the Lake County State’s Attorney’s Office and determined that an 
Ordinance amendment is necessary in order for SMC to use the process.  
 

 
 
  

cweatherall
Typewritten Text
ATTACHMENT 2



Exhibit A 

U:\Regulatory Program\Certification\2015\WDO Adoption Information\County Board Approved WDO Amendments.docx 
 

Page 2 of 2  County Board Approved WDO Amendments     October 13, 2015  

WDO Amendment #3 
Page 99 - Appendix A:  Definitions 
 
Isolated Waters of Lake County: All waters such as lakes, ponds, streams (including intermittent 
streams), farmed wetlands, and wetlands that are not under U.S. Army Corps of Engineers jurisdiction. The 
limits of the Isolated Waters of Lake County extend to the ordinary high water mark or the delineated wetland 
boundary. 

a. The following are excluded from Isolated Waters of Lake County, as determined 
by the Enforcement Officer: 

 

(1) Excavations and impoundments that have received a permit from the 
appropriate jurisdictional authority. 

 

(2) Excavations and impoundments permitted by right, prior to being a 

regulated activity, within 40% or more non-hydric soils. Areas 

designated as ‘water’ as depicted on the Soil Survey of Lake County, 

SCS, 1970 are determined as either hydric or non-hydric soils by 

connecting adjoining soil boundaries to create complete polygons of 

the depicted soil type. 

 

(3) Wetlands created incidental to construction grading on development 
sites. that have received a Watershed Development Permit or 
meet the criteria of Article IV.A.2.a 

 

(4) Roadside ditches. 

 

b. The following shall not be considered as meeting the exclusion criteria in a. 
above: 

 

(1) All areas meeting the definition of high-quality aquatic resources. 

 

(2) Wetland mitigation areas created to meet the requirements of this 
Ordinance or Section 404 of the Clean Water Act. 

 

(3) Wetland areas created or restored using public funds. 
 
Purpose: Per legal review, clarify determination is made by EO. For a.(3) record retention policies vary among 
units of government and documents are not always kept, available, or easily obtained. EO has discretion to make 
a determination that the wetland was “created” due to construction grading on a development site. 
 

FEMA/NFIP Map Updates 
WDO Amendment #4 
Pages 108-116 – Appendix C: FEMA Flood Insurance Study Maps and Profiles 
 
 (SEE WDO APPENDIX C) 
 
Purpose: Modify FEMA map effective dates and panel numbers. 
 

 



 
VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 

REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION 
 

             Agenda Item: 13    
 
 
Subject: 

A PUBLIC HEARING REGARDING YEAR 2015 PROPERTY 
TAX LEVY 

 
Action Requested: 

 
CONDUCT PUBLIC HEARING  

 
Originated By: 

 
FINANCE COMMITTEE 

 
Referred To:  

 
VILLAGE BOARD 

 
Summary of Background and Reason For Request: 
 
The Village of Lake Bluff, in keeping with past practice, will conduct a public hearing on the 
proposed YR 2015 property tax levy.  Finance Director Griffin will present information on 
the Finance Committee’s tax levy recommendation.  The hearing notice was published in the 
Lake County News Sun on November 13, 2015 and on the Village’s website on October 30, 
2015. 
 
Refer to the subsequent two agenda items for the proposed tax levy information and 
ordinances. 
 
Reports and Documents Attached: 
 
 A Copy of the Public Hearing Notice. 
 

 
Date Referred to Village Board: 11/23/2015 







 
VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 

REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION 
 

             Agenda Item:  14 
 
 
 
 
Subject: 

 
AN ORDINANCE LEVYING PROPERTY TAXES FOR THE FISCAL YEAR 
BEGINNING MAY 1, 2015 AND ENDING APRIL 30, 2016 FOR THE 
VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF, LAKE COUNTY, ILLINOIS (First Reading) 

 
Action Requested: 

 
FIRST READING APPROVAL OF THE ORDINANCE (Roll Call Vote) 

 
Originated By: 

 
FINANCE DIRECTOR 

 
Referred To:  

 
FINANCE COMMITTEE 

 
Summary of Background and Reason For Request: 
 
Pursuant to State law, on or before the last Tuesday in December, the Village must file with the County 
Clerk an Ordinance requesting a property tax to be levied on all taxable property within the Village.  
After review of levy estimates and financial projections as presented by staff, the Finance Committee 
recommends that the Village levy $3,193,412 for the year 2015, which represents a 1.388% increase over 
the 2014 property tax extension.      
 
The Lake Bluff Public Library Board has requested a property tax levy of $886,048 for the year 2015, 
which is a 1.39% increase over the previous year.      
 
The total levy amount of $4,079,460 is in compliance with the Property Tax Limitation and Truth In 
Taxation Acts.   
 
Reports and Documents Attached: 
 

1. A Copy of the Ordinance; 
2. Tax Levy Calculation Schedule; and  
3. Tax Levy by Fund Comparison Schedule.  

 
Village President’s Recommendation: 
 
 
Village Administrator’s Recommendation:  Approval of the Ordinance 
 

 
Date Referred to Village Board: 11/23/2015 



 

 

 

 

 

______________________________ 

 

ORDINANCE NO. 2015 

______________________________ 

 

 

 

AN ORDINANCE LEVYING TAXES FOR THE FISCAL YEAR 

BEGINNING MAY 1, 2015 AND ENDING APRIL 30, 2016 

FOR THE VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 
 

 

Passed by the Board of Trustees,  

Printed and Published, 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

Printed and Published in Pamphlet Form 

by Authority of the 

President and Board of Trustees 

 

 

 

VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 

LAKE COUNTY, ILLINOIS 

 

 

 

 

 

 

I hereby certify that this document 

was properly published on the date 

stated above. 

 

 
__________________________ 

Village Clerk 

sgriffin
Typewritten Text
ATTACHMENT 1

sgriffin
Typewritten Text



2015 Property Tax Levy – Ordinance   Page 1 

 

AN ORDINANCE LEVYING TAXES FOR THE FISCAL YEAR 

BEGINNING MAY 1, 2015 AND ENDING APRIL 30, 2016 

FOR THE VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 
 

 WHEREAS, the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Lake Bluff, in the County of 

Lake, and State of Illinois, did, on the 23rd day of March, 2015 adopt and approve the Budget for said 

Village for the fiscal year commencing May 1, 2015 and ending April 30, 2016; and, 

 

 WHEREAS, the President and Board of Trustees has determined that it is necessary to levy a 

property tax on all taxable property located within the Village. 

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE PRESIDENT AND BOARD OF 

TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF, LAKE COUNTY, ILLINOIS, as follows: 

 

 SECTION 1.  2015 PROPERTY TAX LEVY. 

  

 That there be and is hereby levied on all taxable property within the corporate limits of said 

Village for the fiscal year commencing May 1, 2015 and ending April 30, 2016, the sum of six 

hundred eighty-three thousand, two hundred sixty-two and no/100’s dollars ($683,262) for General 

Corporate purposes, and the sum of three million, three hundred ninety-six thousand, one hundred 

ninety-eight and no/100’s dollars ($3,396,198) for Special Purposes, making a combined levy of four 

million, seventy-nine thousand, four hundred sixty and no/100’s dollars ($4,079,460) as hereinafter set 

forth. 
 

SECTION 2.  GENERAL CORPORATE PURPOSE LEVY. 

  

That there be and is hereby levied on all taxable property within the corporate limits of 

said Village for the fiscal year commencing May 1, 2015 and ending April 30, 2016, the sum of 

six hundred eighty-three thousand, two hundred sixty-two and no/100’s dollars ($683,262) for 

General Corporate purposes. 
 

 Description Budget1                           Levy 

 

 Administration Division:  
 Personal Services2 $389,040 $ 194,520  

 Contractual Serv/Commodities   503,315 125,829 

 Capital     15,000 12,000 

 Other   454,293 -0-     

 Total                                                     $1,361,648 $ 332,349 
 

 Finance Division: 
 Personal Services $310,650 $ 155,325  

 Contractual Serv/Commodities3     72,425 18,106 

 Capital       5,600 -0- 

 Other     40,000 -0- 

 Total $428,675 $ 173,431 

  

                                                 
1 Unemployment, liability insurance and the audit levy are shown separately in this Ordinance – see footnotes 2&3 – but in 

the budget document the amounts are allocated to each division in the General fund. The budget numbers reflected in this 

Ordinance do not include the Water Fund or the 2012 G.O. Refunding Debt Fund. 
2 Unemployment Insurance budget and levy is shown separately on page 4. 
3 Audit cost budget and levy is shown separately on page 4. 



2015 Property Tax Levy – Ordinance   Page 2 

 
 Description Budget                          Levy 

 

 Special Boards Division:    
 Contractual Serv/Commodities $  72,200 $  36,100  

 Total $  72,200 $  36,100    

 

 Community Development Division: 
 Personal Services $164,565 $  16,456  

 Contractual Serv/Commodities   150,355 1,530 

 Capital       2,000 -0- 

 Other       4,000 -0- 

 Total $320,920 $ 17,986 
 

 Forestry Division:  

 Personal Services $100,927 $ 30,278 

 Contractual Serv/Commodities     51,350 12,838 

  Capital Outlay     10,750 -0- 

  Other     15,000 -0- 

 Total $178,027 $ 43,116 
 

 Parks & Parkways Division:  

 Personal Services $  34,960                        $ 30,000 

 Contractual Serv/Commodities     56,550 14,138 

 Capital          -0- -0- 

 Other     25,000 -0- 

 Total $116,510 $ 44,138   
  

 Sewer Division: 
 Personal Services $146,900 -0- 

 Contractual Serv/Commodities      45,250 -0-  

 Total $192,150 $       -0- 

 

 Village Hall Division: 
 Personal Services  $   9,350 $       -0- 

 Contractual Serv/Commodities     27,000 10,000 

 Capital Outlay     77,000 6,142 

 Total $113,350 $  16,142 

  

 Village Properties Division: 
 Contractual & Other $    7,150 $       -0- 

  

 Public Works Center Division: 

 Personal Services $    5,225 $       -0- 

 Contractual Serv/Commodities     39,800 10,000 

 Capital Outlay       8,500 -0- 

 Total $  53,525  $   10,000 

 

  Public Safety Building Division: 
 Personal Services $    9,350 $       -0- 

 Contractual Serv/Commodities     63,200 10,000 

 Capital Outlay     13,000 -0- 

 Total $  85,550 $   10,000 

  

 

 



2015 Property Tax Levy – Ordinance   Page 3 

 
 Description Budget                           Levy 

   

 Commuter Station Division: 
 Personal Services $  40,098 $       -0- 

 Contractual Serv/Commodities     45,830 -0- 

 Capital Outlay       3,000 -0- 

 Total $  88,928 $       -0- 
  

 Total Taxes Levied for General Corporate Purposes: $683,262 
  

   

 SECTION 3.  SPECIAL LEVIES. 

  

 That in addition to the maximum of taxes authorized for General Corporate Purposes, that there 

be and is hereby levied on all taxable property within the corporate limits of said Village for the fiscal 

year commencing May 1, 2015 and ending April 30, 2016, the sum of three million, three hundred 

ninety-six thousand, one hundred ninety-eight and no/100’s dollars ($3,396,198) for the following 

special purposes as authorized by law. 
 

 Description Budget                           Levy 

 

 Police Sworn Division: 

 Personal Services $ 1,817,890 $ 410,000 

 Contractual Serv/Commodities       197,195 -0- 

 Capital         49,000 -0- 

 Other       681,350 -0- 

 Total                                                         $2,745,435 $ 410,000 
 

 Police Support Services Division4: 

 Personal Services    $184,850 $         -0- 

 Contractual Serv/Commodities      275,383 -0- 

 Capital Outlay                 0 -0- 

 Total                                                           $460,233 $         -0- 
 

 Crossing Guards Division5: 

 Personal Services    $    9,850 $    6,000 

 Contractual Serv/Commodities             -0- -0- 

 Total   $    9,850 $    6,000 
 

 Fire Division: 
 Personal Services $ 158,719 $ 130,000   

 Contractual Serv/Commodities    431,050 180,000 

 Other    100,000 -0- 

 Capital Outlay      24,000 -0- 

 Total $ 713,769 $ 310,000 

  

 Streets, Bridges & Lights Division: 
 Personal Services $   356,900 -0- 

 Contractual Serv/Commodities      207,700 -0- 

 Other        40,000 -0- 

 Total                                                        $   604,600 -0- 

                                                 
4 Crossing Guard Salaries are now shown in the Police Support Services Division budget. 
5 See note #4. 



2015 Property Tax Levy – Ordinance   Page 4 

 
 Description Budget                           Levy 

  

 Sanitation Division: 
 Personal Services $       7,125 $            0 

 Contractual Serv/Commodities      596,450   553,350  

 Total $   603,575 $ 553,350 
  

Public Works Capital Improvements: 
Capital Outlay $1,677,000 $        -0- 

 Total                                                        $1,677,000 $        -0- 

 

 Liability Insurance Division:6  
 Contractual Serv/Commodities $  200,545 $ 195,000 

   

 Audit Division:7 
 Contractual Serv/Commodities $    28,000 $   28,000  

  

 Unemployment Insurance Division8: 
 Contractual Serv/Commodities $    16,500 $   10,000  

 

Total General Fund Budget $10,078,140 

 

 IL Municipal Retirement Fund: 
 Personal Services - Village $  158,250 $ 152,000 

 

 Social Security Fund: 
 Personal Services - Village $  245,525 $ 195,700 

   

 Fire Dept. Special Fund: 
 Other $    31,700 -0- 

 

 Motor Fuel Tax Fund: 
 Capital Outlay $         -0- -0- 

 

 E-911 Fund: 
 Contractual Services $     46,400 -0- 

 Capital Outlay $     95,542 -0- 

 Total $    141,942 -0- 
 

 Vehicle/Equipment Replace Fund:  
 Capital Outlay $   194,750 -0- 

 Total $   194,750 -0- 

  

 Redevelopment Fund:  
 Capital Outlay                                        $     95,000 -0- 

 

 Police Pension Fund: 
 Administrative/Investment Costs $    51,700 -0- 

 Pensions $  800,000 $ 650,100 

 Total $  851,700 $ 650,100 

                                                 
6 Liability Insurance is separated in the budget in the personnel section of these divisions:  Administration, Finance, 

Community Development, Police Sworn, Police Support, Fire, Streets, Sanitation, Forestry, Parks, & Sewers. 
7 Audit budget is included in the Finance Division - Contracts/Commodities – Other Professional Services line item. 
8 Unemployment insurance budget is included in the Administration Division – Personnel Services category. 



2015 Property Tax Levy – Ordinance   Page 5 

 
 Description Budget                           Levy  
  

 Library Fund: 
 Personal Services $   563,250 $   550,048 

 Contractual Serv/Commodities      251,750 250,000        

 Capital Outlay          4,000 4,000 

 IMRF/FICA Pension        82,000 82,000 

 Contingency          5,217 -0- 

 Grant Expenditures        33,153 -0- 

 Total $   939,370 $   886,048 
 

Total Taxes Levied for Special Purposes:  $3,396,198 
 

 SECTION 4.  SUMMARY OF LEVY BY PURPOSE.   
  

 That the following is a summary of the taxes herein before levied: 
 

 Corporate $683,262 

 Police Protection 410,000 

 Garbage Disposal 553,350 

 Street & Bridge -0- 

 Crossing Guard 6,000 

 Fire Protection 310,000 

 Library 886,048 

 Civil Defense -0- 

 IL Municipal Retirement 152,000 

 Social Security 195,700 

 Liability Insurance 195,000 

 Audit Tax 28,000 

 Unemployment Insurance 10,000 

 Police Pension 650,100 

  

Total Levy  $4,079,460    
 

 SECTION 5.  TRUTH-IN TAXATION ACT COMPLIANCE.  
 

 That the Village hereby certifies that compliance with the provisions of the Truth-in-Taxation 

Law, as amended, was not required for this Ordinance. 

 

 SECTION 6.  VALIDITY OF ORDINANCE. 
 

 That, if any part or parts of this Ordinance shall be held to be unconstitutional or otherwise 

invalid, such unconstitutionality or invalidity shall not affect the validity of the remaining parts of this 

Ordinance. 
  

 SECTION 7.  EFFECTIVE DATE. 
  

 This Ordinance shall be in full force and effect following its passage, approval, and publication 

in pamphlet form in the manner required by law. 

 

  



2015 Property Tax Levy – Ordinance   Page 6 

 

PASSED this ____ day of ________, 2015 by vote of the Board of Trustees of the Village of Lake 

Bluff, as follows: 

 

AYES: (  )  

  

NAYS: (  )  

 

ABSENT: (  )   

 

APPROVED this ____ day of . 

       ____________________________ 

ATTEST:      Village President  

 

 

___________________________ 

Village Clerk 

 

 

 

FIRST READING:  November 23, 2015 

 

SECOND READING: December 7, 2015    

 

PASSED:        

 

APPROVED:      

 

ORDERED PUBLISHED IN PAMPHLET FORM:   
 

 

 



VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 10-Nov-15

2015 PROPERTY TAX LEVY PRELIMINARY LEVY

I.  Calculation of 2015 Estimated EAV & Historical Data

2015

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 Estimated

Village EAV $561,955,086 527,046,786 484,191,545 463,295,419 458,754,118 $491,784,414

Sanctuary EAV $23,944,748 24,208,168 22,308,618 20,968,093 20,764,619 $21,387,558

  Total Village EAV $585,899,834 $551,254,954 $506,500,163 $484,263,512 $479,518,737 $513,171,972

Shield's Township EAV $2,223,203,731 $2,060,162,776 $1,926,914,557 $1,781,099,584 $1,690,026,662 $1,639,325,862

Village % of Township 26.35% 26.76% 26.29% 27.19% 28.37% 31.30%

New Construction Value $3,063,550 $3,106,704 $967,961 $2,877,031 $1,378,812 $2,976,000

Annexed Property

Property Tax Extension $3,506,600 $3,573,377 $3,694,381 $3,789,757 $3,862,737

Sanctuary Extension $136,964 $150,333 $156,160 $157,470 $160,876

   Total Village Extension $3,643,564 $3,723,710 $3,850,542 $3,947,227 $4,023,613 $0

Tax Rate 0.624 0.678 0.763 0.818 0.842 0.000

Sanctuary Rate 0.572 0.621 0.700 0.751 0.775 0.000

II.  Calculation of Maximum Tax Levy

A. Tax Cap Calculation - PTELL MAXIMUM YEAR 2015 ESTIMATE

CPI Factor 0.8% 0.80%

STEP 1:  Prior year Extension less debt * CPI factor

2014 Extension $4,023,613 $4,055,802

$510,195,972

Maximum Tax Rate with CPI (Step 1 divided by Step 2) 0.7949 PTELL Limiting Rate

STEP 3:  Rate * Total EAV = Total levy (less debt)

$4,079,460 MAXIMUM 1.388% % Increase

STEP 4: Total Maximum Levy $4,079,460 1.388% % Increase

STEP 5:  Add G.O. Debt Payments ABATED $0

STEP 6:  Total Maximum Levy & Tax Rate $4,079,460 0.7949

III.  Comparison 2014 & 2015 Levy - VILLAGE 

A. PTELL Maximum 2014 Tax Ext 2015 Tax Max 2015 Estimate $ Change % Change

Levy Before Debt $3,149,695 $3,193,412 $3,193,412 $43,717 1.388%

Debt Levy $0 $0 $0

  Abatement $0 $0 $0

Total Levy $3,149,695 $3,193,412 $3,193,412 $43,717 1.388%

STEP 2: Tax Rate Maximum=New Extension (less debt) 

Divided by Estimated EAV less New Construction

sgriffin
Typewritten Text
ATTACHMENT 2



IV.  Library Levy Estimates

2014 Extension 2015 Max 2015 Estimate $ Increase % Change

Amount Allowed per Tax Cap $873,918 $886,048 $886,048 $12,130 1.388%

TOTAL LEVY $4,023,613 $4,079,460 $4,079,460 $55,847 1.388%



VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF

COMPARISON OF PROPERTY TAX LEVIES 2011-2015

PROPERTY PROPERTY PROPERTY PROPERTY PROPERTY

TAX TAX TAX TAX TAX $ INC/(DEC) % INC/(DEC) % of Total

FUND TITLE 2011 EXT 2012 EXT 2013 EXT 2014 EXT 2015 EXT Levy

(FY12-13) (FY13-14) (FY14-15) (FY15-16) (FY16-17)

01 General Fund $1,932,133 $2,087,921 $2,160,295 $2,169,085 $2,195,612 $26,527 1.22% 49.53%

  Debt Service Abatement $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 N/A 0.00%

General Fund Total Tax $1,932,133 $2,087,921 $2,160,295 $2,169,085 $2,195,612 $26,527 1.22% 49.53%

07 IL Municipal Retirement 192,939 172,210 150,122 150,003 152,000 $1,997 1.33% 7.47%

14 Social Security Fund 242,552 197,535 179,177 190,004 195,700 $5,696 3.00% 8.56%

16 Liability Insurance Fund 0 0 0 0 0 $0 N/A 0.00%

62 Police Pension Fund 551,255 557,150 605,329 640,603 650,100 $9,497 1.48% 11.68%

Subtotal-Village $2,918,879 $3,014,816 $3,094,923 $3,149,695 $3,193,412 $43,717 1.39% 77.24%

80 Library Fund 744,267 763,094 777,654 797,398 807,598 $10,200 1.28% 20.90%

80 Library IMRF 32,887 40,704 41,925 42,975 44,050 $1,075 2.50% 1.07%

80 Library FICA 27,677 31,927 32,725 33,545 34,400 $855 2.55% 0.78%

39 1998 G.O. Bond & Interest 0 0 0 0 0 $0 N/A 0.00%

Library $804,831 $835,725 $852,304 $873,918 $886,048 $12,130 1.39% 22.76%

TOTAL EXTENSION/LEVY $3,723,710 $3,850,541 $3,947,227 $4,023,613 $4,079,460 $55,847 1.39% 100.00%

Residential property represents 90.6% of the total EAV of the Village. 

Commercial, industrial, farm and railroad property combined EAV represents 9.4%.

2014 Extension to 2015 Levy

 $100
 $200
 $300
 $400
 $500
 $600
 $700
 $800
 $900

 $1,000
 $1,100
 $1,200
 $1,300
 $1,400
 $1,500
 $1,600
 $1,700
 $1,800
 $1,900
 $2,000
 $2,100
 $2,200
 $2,300
 $2,400

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

Th
o

u
sa

n
d

s Property Tax Extensions by Fund

General Fund IL Municipal Retirement Social Security Fund Police Pension Fund

sgriffin
Typewritten Text

sgriffin
Typewritten Text

sgriffin
Typewritten Text
ATTACHMENT 3



 
VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 

REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION 
               Agenda Item: 15 
 
 
 
Subject: 

AN ORDINANCE ABATING 2015 PROPERTY TAXES 
LEVIED FOR GENERAL OBLIGATION DEBT SERIES 
2011 AND 2012 BONDS OF THE VILLAGE OF LAKE 
BLUFF, LAKE COUNTY, ILLINOIS (First Reading) 

 
Action Requested: 

 
FIRST READING APPROVAL  (Roll Call Vote) 

 
Originated By: 

 
FINANCE DIRECTOR 

 
Referred To:  

 
VILLAGE BOARD 

 
Summary of Background and Reason For Request: 
 
The Village currently has Refunding Bonds Series 2011 and 2012 General Obligation 
(“G.O.”) bonds outstanding. Pursuant to Ordinances 2011-19 and 2012-13 the County 
Clerk is required to extend a property tax levy in an amount sufficient to pay the 
interest and principal on the bonds.     
 
In the past the Village has abated the annual property tax levy. Because the bond 
ordinances directing extension of the annual property tax levy were filed with the 
County Clerk, an ordinance is required to abate (not levy) the property tax for these 
bonds.  
 
The Finance Director determined that the Waterworks Fund has the amount necessary 
to transfer to the Waterworks Bond and Interest Account for principal and interest 
payments on the 2011 Refunding Bonds. The 2012 Refunding Bond principal and 
interest payments will be paid by General Fund revenues.     
 
Reports and Documents Attached: 
 
 A Copy of the Abatement Ordinance. 

 
Village Administrator’s Recommendation:     First Reading Approval of the 
Ordinance. 
 
Date Referred to Village Board: 11/23/2015 
 



 
 
 

______________________________ 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 2015 
______________________________ 

 
 
 
 

AN ORDINANCE ABATING 2015 PROPERTY TAXES LEVIED FOR  
GENERAL OBLIGATION DEBT SERIES 2011 AND 2012 BONDS OF  

THE VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF, LAKE COUNTY, ILLINOIS 
 
 

Passed by the Board of Trustees,  
 

Printed and Published,  
 
 

Printed and Published in Pamphlet Form 
by Authority of the 

President and Board of Trustees 
 
 

VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 
LAKE COUNTY, ILLINOIS 

 
 
 

 
I hereby certify that this document 
was properly published on the date 
stated above. 
 
 
______________________ 
Village Clerk 



Page 1 

 
ORDINANCE NO.  2015 

 
AN ORDINANCE ABATING 2015 PROPERTY TAXES LEVIED FOR  
GENERAL OBLIGATION DEBT SERIES 2011 AND 2012 BONDS OF  

THE VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF, LAKE COUNTY, ILLINOIS 
 
  
 WHEREAS, on September 26, 2011 the Village adopted Ordinance 2011-19 providing for the issuance of 
General Obligation Refunding Series 2011 Bonds (“2011 Refunding Bonds”) for the purpose of refunding the 2004 
Bonds and Section 11 of said Ordinance directs the County Clerk to levy a direct annual tax sufficient to pay the 
principal and interest coming due on the 2011 Refunding Bonds in the amount of two hundred twenty thousand, 
two hundred forty-three and 75/100’s dollars ($220,243.75); and, 
 
 WHEREAS, the Waterworks Fund has sufficient revenues for the payment of principal and interest  
coming due on the 2011 Refunding Bonds and the Finance Committee of the Village of Lake Bluff recommends 
that the 2015 Property Tax Levy Debt Service requirements be reduced by two hundred twenty thousand, two 
hundred forty-three and 75/100’s dollars ($220,243.75); and, 
 
 WHEREAS, on June 11, 2012 the Village adopted Ordinance 2012-13 providing for the issuance of 
General Obligation Refunding Series 2012 Bonds (“2012 Refunding Bonds”) for the purpose of refunding the 2006 
Bonds and Section 11 of Ordinance 2012-13 directs the County Clerk to levy a direct annual tax sufficient to pay 
the principal and interest coming due the 2012 Refunding Bonds in the amount of two hundred fifty-one thousand, 
four hundred ninety-two and 50/100’s dollars ($251,492.50) of the 2014 Property Tax Levy; and, 
 
 WHEREAS, the General Fund has sufficient revenues for the payment of principal and interest coming 
due on the 2012 Refunding Bonds and the Finance Committee of the Village of Lake Bluff recommends that the 
2015 Property Tax Levy Debt Service requirements be reduced by two hundred fifty-one thousand, four hundred 
ninety-two and 50/100’s dollars ($251,492.50); and, 
 
 WHEREAS, the Village Board of Trustees of the Village of Lake Bluff have determined that it is in the 
best interest of the Village to abate the Debt Service Section of the 2015 Property Tax Levy in the amount of two 
hundred twenty thousand, two hundred forty-three and 75/100’s dollars ($220,243.75); and that the funds necessary 
to pay principal and interest on the 2011 Refunding Bonds be transferred from the Waterworks Fund to the 
respective Waterworks Bond Fund; and, 
 

WHEREAS, the Village Board of Trustees of the Village of Lake Bluff have determined that it is in the 
best interest of the Village to abate the Debt Service Section of the 2015 Property Tax Levy in the amount two 
hundred fifty-one thousand, four hundred ninety-two and 50/100’s dollars ($251,492.50); and that the funds 
necessary to pay interest on the 2012 Refunding Bonds be transferred from the General Fund to the respective Bond 
Fund. 

 
NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE PRESIDENT AND BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF 

THE VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF, LAKE COUNTY, ILLINOIS, as follows: 
 
 SECTION 1.  ABATEMENT OF 2015 PROPERTY TAXES. 
 
 The County Clerk is authorized to abate the 2015 property taxes levied as follows: 
 
 
 
 
 



2015 Property Tax Debt Service Levy Abatement Ordinance 

Page 2 

Levy 
Year 

Bond Issue/ Ordinance Taxes 
Levied by 
Original 
Bond 
Ordinance 

Taxes to be 
Abated by 
this 
Ordinance 

Amount of Taxes 
Required to Pay 
Principal & 
Interest 

 
2015 

 
2011 G.O. Refunding 
Bonds Ordinance 2011-19 
 

 
$220,243.75 

 
$220,243.75 

 
$-0- 

 
2015 

 
2012 G.O. Refunding 
Bonds Ordinance 2012-13 
 

 
$251,492.50 

 
$251,492.50 

 
$-0- 

 
 SECTION 2.   EFFECTIVE DATE. 
 
 This Ordinance shall be effective following passage by the Board of Trustees of the Village of Lake Bluff 
in the manner required by law and publication in pamphlet form in the manner required by law. 
  
PASSED this _____ day of _________, 2015 by vote of the Board of Trustees of the Village of Lake Bluff, as 
follows: 
 
AYES:  (  )   
  
NAYS:  ( )  
 
ABSENT: ( )   
 
APPROVED this _____ day of ________, 2015. 

       _______________________________ 
       Village President 
ATTEST: 
 
 
____________________________ 
Village Clerk 
 
FIRST READING:  November 23, 2015     

SECOND READING:  December 7, 2015 

PASSED:      

APPROVED:  

   
ORDERED PUBLISHED IN PAMPHLET FORM:    



 
 

VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 
REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION 

                               Agenda Item: 16
 

 
Subject: 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING AN EXISTING SPECIAL USE PERMIT (Ordinance 2008-
07) AND A VARIATION FROM THE VILLAGE’S GROSS FLOOR AREA 
REQUIREMENTS FOR THE CONSTRUCTION OF RENOVATIONS TO THE LAKE 
BLUFF MIDDLE SCHOOL (31 E. Sheridan Place) 

 
Action Requested: 

 
FIRST READING APPROVAL (Roll Call Vote) 

 
Originated By: 

 
LAKE BLUFF SCHOOL DISTRICT #65 

 
Referred To:  

 
JOINT PLAN COMMISSION & ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS (PCZBA) 
ARCHITECTURAL BOARD OF REVIEW (ABR) 

 

Summary of Background and Reason For Request:  
 

In October 2015 Lake Bluff School District #65 (Petitioner) Officials and representatives from Wight & Company 
(Consultant) met with Village Staff to review proposed renovations to the Lake Bluff Middle School (31 E. Sheridan 
Place).  The renovations include: (i) an overall reconfiguration of the interior space; (ii) a new fine arts addition (4,300 
sq. ft.), (iii) a new classroom addition (5,400 sq. ft.) providing for five new classrooms, (iv) a new storage building 
(1,200 sq. ft.) placed near the westerly property line, (v) as well as certain modifications to the eastern parking lot along 
E. Sheridan Place.  At its meeting on October 21st, the PCZBA and the ABR conducted a joint workshop to review and 
provide feedback on the preliminary plans.  Shortly thereafter the Chairs of the PCZBA and ABR met with the Petitioner 
and the Consultant to review the changes in preparation for an upcoming public hearing with the PCZBA.   
 

At its meeting on November 18th the PCZBA conducted a public hearing, received comments from the public and 
recommended the Village Board, upon a 4-1 vote, approve the following: 
 

1) An amendment to Ordinance #2008-07 granting a special use permit (SUP) to operate a school at 31 E. Sheridan 
Place; and 

2) A 211% variation from the Village’s maximum gross floor area regulations for the R-4 Residence District, 
which allows an additional 68,160.20 sq. ft. of floor area for a total floor area of 100,469 sq. ft. with the 
following conditions: a) mitigate any noise generated from the mechanical units and ensure any operation of the 
equipment complies at all times with applicable law, including the Illinois Pollution Control Board sound 
emission standards and limitations, b) work with the Village to provide additional landscaping improvements 
and screening around the proposed freestanding storage shed, and c) the Petitioner will use its best efforts to 
obtain necessary funding to complete the alternate proposals (refer to Attachment 2) related to providing 
additional access to natural light and screening of rooftop mechanical units.  

 

To accommodate the Petitioner’s project timeline, first reading of the ordinance is being presented to the Village Board 
with the expectation the Petitioner will meet with the ABR for an advisory site plan review prior to second reading 
scheduled for December 14th.  The second reading version will be a “redline” version incorporating any changes 
resulting from the ABR’s review.  Superintendent Jean Sophie and other school officials, as well as the Petitioner’s 
Consultant and Village Staff, will be in attendance to address questions from the Board.  
 
Reports and Documents Attached: 

1. Ordinance Amending Existing SUP and Granting a Floor Area Variation; 
2. Middle School Building Renovation Plans, Comments Addressing Workshop Feedback and List of Alternate 

Proposals Currently Being Considered by the Petitioner; 
3. PCZBA Staff Report (without attachments) Dated November 13th and an Informational Update (without 

attachments) Dated November 18th Transmitting the Final Floor Area Calculation; and 
4. A Comment Received by the Village Concerning the Project. 

 

PCZBA’s Recommendation:  Approval of the Ordinance. 
Village Administrator’s Recommendation:    Consider First Reading Approval of Ordinance. 

Date Referred to Village Board: 11/23/2015 



First Reading Version 

1 

ORDINANCE NO. 2015-__ 
 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING AN EXISTING SPECIAL USE PERMIT (Ordinance 2008-07) 
AND A VARIATION FROM THE VILLAGE’S GROSS FLOOR AREA REQUIREMENTS FOR 

THE CONSTRUCTION OF RENOVATIONS TO THE LAKE BLUFF MIDDLE SCHOOL 

 (31 E. Sheridan Place) 

WHEREAS, School District 65 ("Applicant") is the owner of the property located 
at 31 East Sheridan Place in the Village, which is within the Village's "B" (R-4) Residence 
District and is legally described on the attached Exhibit A ("Subject Property"); and, 

WHEREAS, the Subject Property consists of a single zoning lot on which the 
Applicant currently operates the school commonly known as the Lake Bluff Middle School 
("Middle School") and formerly operated the school commonly known as the East School; and,  

WHEREAS, pursuant to Ordinance 2008-07, the Applicant received certain 
zoning relief for the Subject Property, including (i) a special use permit for the operation of a 
school ("Original Special Use Permit"), and (ii) a variation from the maximum gross floor area 
regulations ("Original Floor Area Variation") to allow for the operation of both the Middle 
School and East School, which Special Use Permit required, in part, strict compliance with the 
approved plans for the Subject Property; and, 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Ordinance 2012-06, and in an effort to mitigate the 
impact on neighbors of the sound generated by the operation of the Middle School's chiller 
equipment, the Applicant received additional zoning relief for the Subject Property, including (i) 
a variation from the maximum fence height regulations of Section 10-9-4B of the Zoning 
Regulations to construct a sound attenuation wall (“Wall”) at the Subject Property ("Fence 
Height Variation") and (ii) a related amendment to the Original Special Use Permit to depict the 
Wall on the site plan for the Subject Property (“SUP Amendment”); and,  

WHEREAS, subsequent to the approval of the Original Special Use Permit, as 
amended by the SUP Amendment, East School ceased operating and was demolished, so the 
Middle School is the only facility operating on the Subject Property and therefore is no longer 
operating in strict compliance with the plans approved pursuant to the Original Special Use 
Permit; and,  

WHEREAS, the Applicant is planning certain renovations to the Middle School, 
including constructing additional classrooms, storage space, installing additional mechanical 
equipment, and related improvements (collectively, the “Improvements”); and,  

WHEREAS, the Applicant seeks the following zoning relief to construct the 
Improvements to the Middle School: (1) an amendment to the existing Special Use Permit to 
provide for the construction, installation, and operation of the Improvements (“Amended and 
Restated Special Use Permit”), and (2) a revised variation from the floor area ratio restrictions 
in the R-4 District (“Revised Floor Area Variation”); and,   

WHEREAS, following a properly noticed public hearing, the Joint Plan 
Commission and Zoning Board of Appeals (“PCZBA”) recommended that the Board of Trustees 
approve the Amended and Restated Special Use Permit and Revised Floor Area Variation; and,  

cweatherall
Typewritten Text
ATTACHMENT 1



First Reading Version 

2 

WHEREAS, the PCZBA has recommended, and the Village Board of Trustees 
has determined, that it would be in the best interest of the Village to grant the Amended and 
Restated Special Use Permit and Revised Floor Area Variation in accordance with, and subject 
to, the conditions, restrictions, and provisions of this Ordinance.  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE PRESIDENT AND BOARD OF 
TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF, LAKE COUNTY, ILLINOIS, as follows:  

Section 1. Recitals.  

The foregoing recitals are incorporated into, and made a part of, this Ordinance 
as the findings of the President and Board of Trustees of the Village.  

Section 2. Public Hearing.  

A public hearing to consider the Applicant's request for the Amended and 
Restated Special Use Permit and the Revised Floor Area Variation was duly advertised on or 
before October 31, 2015 in The News-Sun, and was held by the Lake Bluff Joint Plan 
Commission and Zoning Board of Appeals on November 18, 2015, on which date the PCZBA 
recommended approval of the Revised Special Use Permit and the Revised Floor Area 
Variation.  

Section 3.  Grant of Revised Floor Area Variation; Revocation of Original  
Floor Area Variation; Adoption and Restatement of Fence 
Height Variation. 

A. Grant of Variation. Subject to and contingent upon the conditions, 
restrictions, and provisions in Section 5 of this Ordinance, a variation of approximately 
68,160.20 square feet, or  211 percent, from the Village's maximum floor area restrictions for the 
R-4 District, as set forth in Section 10-5-6A of the Zoning Regulations, is hereby granted to the 
Applicant for the construction of the Improvements. 

B. Revocation of Original Floor Area Variation. The Original Floor Area 
Variation granted pursuant to Ordinance 2008-07 is hereby revoked and shall be of no further 
force or effect. 

C. Adoption and Restatement of Fence Height Variation. The variation from 
the Village’s fence height restrictions granted pursuant to Ordinance 2012-06 is hereby adopted 
and restated as part of this Ordinance and shall remain in full force and effect pursuant to the 
terms of this Ordinance. 

Section 4. Grant of Amended and Restated Special Use Permit.  

A. Grant of Amended and Restated Special Use Permit. Subject to and 
contingent upon the conditions, restrictions, and provisions in Section 5 of this Ordinance, the 
Amended and Restated Special Use Permit is hereby granted to the Applicant pursuant to 
Section 10-4-2E of the Zoning Regulations to allow the Applicant to depict the Improvements on 
the relevant plans for the Middle School and the Subject Property. The Amended and Restated 
Special Use Permit amends and restates the Original Special Use Permit as amended by the 
SUP Amendment. 



First Reading Version 

3 

Section 5. Conditions.  

The Revised Floor Area Variation granted in Section 3 and the Amended and 
Restated Special Use Permit granted in Section 4 of this Ordinance are expressly subject to and 
contingent upon each of the following conditions, restrictions, and provisions: 

A. Compliance with Plans and Application.  The Subject Property must be 
developed, used, and maintained in substantial accordance with the following documents 
submitted by the Applicant to the Village: the site plans and related materials prepared by Wight  
consisting of 21 pages (inclusive of Exhibits A and B thereto) and attached as Exhibit B ("Site 
Plans"), and the Applicant’s application for the Revised Floor Area Variation and the Amended 
and Restated Special Use Permit and accompanying documents attached as Exhibit C 
("Application");  

B. Compliance with Applicable Law.  In addition to the other specific 
requirements of this Ordinance, the Subject Property, the Middle School, and all of the 
Applicant’s operations and activities conducted on and in the Subject Property, must comply at 
all times with all applicable federal, state, and Village statutes, ordinances, resolutions, rules, 
codes, and regulations. 

C. Existing Special Use Permit Conditions. The following conditions placed 
on the original Special Use Permit pursuant to Ordinance 2008-07 are hereby incorporated and 
adopted in this Ordinance remain in full force and effect, as follows: 

1. Landscaping.  The Applicant agrees to continue to consult with the 
owners of neighboring properties in the development and implementation 
of the landscaping of the Subject Property pursuant to the Plans, 
including, without limitation, consulting with the neighboring owners 
concerning the placement and selection of trees and other landscape 
plants and materials.  The Applicant further agrees not to plant any trees 
or landscape materials which bear or produce nuts, fruit, or other 
materials which could be used as projectiles or otherwise present a safety 
hazard. 

2. Lighting.  The Applicant agrees to continue to consult with the owners of 
neighboring properties in the development and implementation of the 
photometric plan for the Subject Property pursuant to the Plans. 

3.     Sprinkling of Existing Facility.  The Applicant agrees to install and operate 
an operational automatic fire suppression sprinkler system which 
will  provide fire sprinkler protection to that portion of the existing Middle 
School as of the approval of Ordinance 2008-07, including the multi-
purpose room, gymnasium, and associated rooms located to the south of 
the existing gymnasium including without limitation locker rooms, storage 
rooms and electrical rooms,  which sprinkler system must be installed and 
maintained in compliance with all applicable fire prevention codes, 
regulations, and standards. 

C. Wall Requirements. The following conditions for the installation and 
operation of the Wall, as originally described in Ordinance 2012-06 are hereby incorporated and 
adopted in this Ordinance remain in full force and effect, as follows: 



First Reading Version 

4 

1. Construction Materials and Landscaping.  Pursuant to the Village Board's 
previous direction that the Applicant review its planned construction 
materials and landscaping with the Chairman of the Village's Architectural 
Board of Review, the Applicant must implement the following aesthetic 
and landscaping requirements on the Subject Property as were agreed 
between the Applicant and the ABR Chairman at their August 17, 2010 
meeting, including:  

a. Planting and maintaining ivy along the east and south portions of 
the Wall for the purpose of covering the eastern and southern 
faces of the Wall with ivy, provided that the Applicant is not 
required to install a trellis system for this purpose; and 

b. Painting the northern portion of the Wall with an opaque stain that 
matches in color the buffed portions of the existing school 
building. 

2. Concealment of Structural Supports. All structural supports for the Wall 
must be concealed in the interior of the Wall structure and must not be 
visible from the exterior of the Wall structure. 

3. Limitation to Existing Chiller System. The approvals granted in this 
Ordinance are applicable only to the existing chiller system located on the 
Subject Property, and shall be of no further force or effect when the 
existing chiller system is replaced. 

4. Warranty Information and Technical Specifications. The Applicant shall 
provide the Village with copies of the warranty information and technical 
specifications for the existing chiller system and agrees to maintain the 
existing chiller system as required pursuant to the existing warranty. 

D. Noise Mitigation. The Applicant shall use its best efforts, including without 
limitation retaining and working with a noise mitigation consultant, to mitigate noise caused by 
all chiller and mechanical equipment operating at the Middle School, including without limitation 
the deployment of sound buffering and screening of such equipment. The operation of such 
equipment shall comply at all times with all applicable laws, rules, and regulations, including 
without limitation the Illinois Pollution Control Board rules and regulations regarding permitted 
noise levels. 

E. Additional Landscape Conditions. In addition to the requirements of 
Paragraph 5.C.1 above, the Applicant shall use its best efforts to revise the landscape plan 
included in the Plans to provide additional landscaping improvements and screening around the 
proposed free-standing storage shed, including without limitation the consideration of reducing 
the size of the storage shed along with the installation of the related landscaping.  

F. Access to Natural Light. The Applicant will use its best efforts to obtain 
necessary funding to complete the alternate proposals described in Exhibit B to the Plans, 
including without limitation: item 3 (“Installation of skylight in the southwest instructional suite 
addition”); item 4 (“Installation of mechanical rooftop unit screen wall above the renovated main 
office and the southwest instructional suite addition”); and item 8 (“Installation of one moveable 
wall in the southwest instructional suite addition”).  



First Reading Version 

5 

G. Revocation of Ordinances 2008-07 and 2012-06.  Ordinances 2008-07 
and 2012-06 are hereby revoked and shall be of no further force or effect. 

Section 6. Failure to Comply with Conditions.  

Upon failure or refusal of the Applicant to comply with any or all of the conditions, 
restrictions, or provisions of this Ordinance, the approvals granted in Sections 3 and 4 of this 
Ordinance will, at the sole discretion of the Village Board of Trustees, by ordinance duly 
adopted, be revoked and become null and void.  

Section 7. Binding Effect; Non-Transferability. 

The privileges, obligations, and provisions of each and every section and 
provision of this Ordinance are for and inure to the benefit of the Applicant, unless otherwise 
explicitly set forth in this Ordinance.  

Section 8. Effective Date.  

A. This Ordinance will be effective only upon the occurrence of all of the 
following events: 

i. Passage by the Board of Trustees of the Village of Lake Bluff in the 
manner required by law; and 

ii. Publication in pamphlet form in the manner required by law; and 

iii. The filing by the Applicant with the Village Clerk, for recording in the 
Office of the Lake County Recorder of Deeds, of an unconditional 
agreement and consent to accept and abide by each and all of the terms, 
conditions, and limitations set forth in this Ordinance.  The unconditional 
agreement and consent must be executed by the Applicant.  The 
unconditional agreement and consent must be substantially in the form 
attached hereto and incorporated herein as Exhibit D. 

B. In the event that the Applicant does not file with the Village Clerk the 
unconditional agreement and consent required by Paragraph 8.A(iii) of this Ordinance within 60 
days after the date of final passage of this Ordinance, the Board of Trustees of Trustees will 
have the right, in their sole discretion, to declare this Ordinance null and void and of no force or 
effect.  

PASSED this ___ day of  _______________, 2015, by vote of the Board of Trustees of the 
Village of Lake Bluff, as follows: 

AYES:    

NAYS:   

ABSENT: 

ABSTAIN: 

 

APPROVED this ___ day of ___________, 2015. 
 
 



First Reading Version 

6 

               
       Village President 
ATTEST: 
 
 
     
Village Clerk 
 
 
FIRST READING:  __________________ 

SECOND READING:  __________________ 

PASSED:   __________________ 

APPROVED:   __________________ 

PUBLISHED IN PAMPHLET FORM:  ___________ 

 



EXHIBIT A 
 

Legal Description of the Subject Property 
 
THAT PART OF THE LAKE BLUFF HEIGHTS SUBDIVISION IN THE NORTHWEST 
QUARTER OF THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF SECTION 21, TOWNSHIP 44 NORTH, 
RANGE 12 EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: LOTS 
1 THROUGH 12 AND THE VACATED ALLEY LYING BETWEEN AND ADJACENT TO SAID 
LOTS IN BLOCK 6; LOTS 1 THROUGH 12 AND THE VACATED ALLEY LYING BETWEEN 
AND ADJACENT TO SAID LOTS IN BLOCK 7; LOTS 1 THROUGH 6 AND THE EASTERLY 
HALF OF THE VACATED ALLEY LYING WEST OF AND ADJACENT TO SAID LOTS IN 
BLOCK 8, TOGETHER WITH VACATED MERRIL COURT LYING BETWEEN BLOCKS 7 AND 
8, VACATED WARRANT COURT LYING BETWEEN BLOCKS 6 AND 7 AND PART OF THE 
10-FOOT WIDE VACATED ALLEY LYING SOUTH OF BLOCKS 7 AND 8 AND LYING 
EASTERLY OF THE CENTER LINE OF THE NORTH/SOUTH VACATED ALLEY IN BLOCK 8, 
SAID CENTER LINE EXTENDED SOUTH TO THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID 10 FOOT ALLEY 
AND LYING WESTERLY OF THE WESTERLY LINE OF LOT 6 IN BLOCK 7, SAID WEST LINE 
EXTENDED SOUTH TO THE SOUTH LINE OF THE 10 FOOT VACATED ALLEY; AND THE 
APPROXIMATE 1.16 ACRE PARCEL WITH PROPERTY IDENTIFICATION NUMBER 12-21-
300-003 LOCATED ADJACENT TO AND SOUTH OF THE WESTERLY PORTIONS OF THE 
PREVIOUSLY DESCRIBED PARCELS, IN LAKE COUNTY ILLINOIS. 
 
Commonly known as 31 East Sheridan Place, Lake Bluff, Illinois. 
 



First Reading Version 

 

EXHIBIT B 
 

Site Plans 



First Reading Version 

 

EXHIBIT C 
 

Application 



First Reading Version 

 

EXHIBIT D 
 

Applicant’s Unconditional Agreement and Consent 

TO: The Village of Lake Bluff, Illinois (“Village”): 

WHEREAS, School District 65 ("Applicant") is the owner of the property located 
at 31 East Sheridan Place in the Village, which is within the Village's "B" (R-4) Residence 
District and is legally described on the attached Exhibit A ("Subject Property"); and 

WHEREAS, the Subject Property consists of a single zoning lot on which the 
Applicant currently operates the school commonly known as the Lake Bluff Middle School 
("Middle School") and formerly operated the school commonly known as the East School; and  

WHEREAS, pursuant to Ordinance 2008-07, the Applicant received certain 
zoning relief for the Subject Property, including (i) a special use permit for the operation of a 
school ("Original Special Use Permit"), and (ii) a variation from the maximum gross floor area 
regulations ("Original Floor Area Variation") to allow for the operation of both the Middle 
School and East School, which Special Use Permit required, in part, strict compliance with the 
approved plans for the Subject Property; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Ordinance 2012-06, and in an effort to mitigate the 
impact on neighbors of the sound generated by the operation of the Middle School's chiller 
equipment, the Applicant received additional zoning relief for the Subject Property, including (i) 
a variation from the maximum fence height regulations of Section 10-9-4B of the Zoning 
Regulations to construct a sound attenuation wall (“Wall”) at the Subject Property ("Fence 
Height Variation") and (ii) a related amendment to the Original Special Use Permit to depict the 
Wall on the site plan for the Subject Property (“SUP Amendment”); and  

WHEREAS, subsequent to the approval of the Original Special Use Permit, as 
amended by the SUP Amendment, East School ceased operating and was demolished, so the 
Middle School is the only facility operating on the Subject Property and therefore is no longer 
operating in strict compliance with the plans approved pursuant to the Original Special Use 
Permit; and  

WHEREAS, the Applicant is planning certain renovations to the Middle School, 
including constructing additional classrooms, storage space, installing additional mechanical 
equipment, and related improvements (collectively, the “Improvements”); and  

WHEREAS, the Applicant seeks the following zoning relief to construct the 
Improvements to the Middle School: (1) an amendment to the existing Special Use Permit to 
provide for the construction, installation, and operation of the Improvements (“Amended and 
Restated Special Use Permit”), and (2) a revised variation from the floor area ratio restrictions 
in the R-4 District (“Revised Floor Area Variation”); and   

WHEREAS, Ordinance No. 2015-___________, adopted by the President and 
Board of Trustees of the Village of Lake Bluff on _____________, 2015, (“Ordinance”) grants 
the requested Fence Height Variation and SUP Amendment for the Subject Property, subject to 
certain modifications, conditions, restrictions, and provisions; and 

WHEREAS, Subsection 8.B of the Ordinance provides, among other things, that 
the Ordinance will be of no force or effect unless and until the Applicant files with the Village 



First Reading Version 

 

Clerk, within 60 days following the passage of the Ordinance, its unconditional agreement and 
consent to accept and abide by each of the terms, conditions and limitations set forth in said 
Ordinance; 

NOW, THEREFORE, the Applicant does hereby agree and covenant as follows: 

1. The Applicant hereby unconditionally agrees to accept, consent to, and 
abide by all of the terms, conditions, restrictions, and provisions of the Ordinance. 

2. The Applicant acknowledges that public notices and hearings have been 
properly given and held with respect to the adoption of the Ordinance, has considered the 
possibility of the revocation provided for in the Ordinance, and agrees not to challenge any such 
revocation on the grounds of any procedural infirmity or a denial of any procedural right. 

3. The Applicant acknowledges and agrees that the Village is not and will 
not be, in any way, liable for any damages or injuries that may be sustained as a result of the 
Village’s issuance of any permits for the use of the Wall and the Subject Property, including, 
without limitation, the special use permit and site plan approved in the Ordinance, and that the 
Village’s issuance of any such permits or approvals does not, and will not, in any way, be 
deemed to insure the Applicant against damage or injury of any kind and at any time. 

4. The Applicant agrees to and does hereby hold harmless and indemnify 
the Village, the Village’s corporate authorities, and all Village elected and appointed officials, 
officers, employees, agents, representatives, and attorneys, from any and all claims that may, at 
any time, be asserted against any of such parties in connection with the operation and use of 
the Subject Property, or the Village’s adoption of the Ordinance. 

 

 
 
Dated: ____________, 2015. 
 
ATTEST:      LAKE BLUFF SCHOOL DISTRICT 65 
 
 
By:       By:        
 
Its:       Its:        
 



cweatherall
Typewritten Text
ATTACHMENT 2















































































cweatherall
Typewritten Text
ATTACHMENT 3









cweatherall
Typewritten Text
ATTACHMENT 4



 
 

VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 
REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION  

                               Agenda Item: 17 

 
Subject: 

 
AN ORDINANCE GRANTING A SPECIAL USE PERMIT TO LAKE 
EFFECT HOLDINGS, LLC TO OPERATE A PHYSICAL FITNESS 
FACILITY AT 14 E. SCRANTON AVENUE 

 
Action Requested: 

 
FIRST READING APPROVAL (Roll Call Vote) 
CONSIDER REQUEST TO WAIVE SECOND READING (Roll Call Vote) 

 
Originated By: 

 
LAKE EFFECT HOLDINGS, LLC (Petitioner) 

 
Referred To:  

 
JOINT PLAN COMMISSION AND ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 

 
Summary of Background and Reason For Request:   
 
On October 23, 2015 the Village received a zoning application from Lake Effect Holdings, LLC 
(Petitioner) seeking a special use permit to operate a physical fitness facility at 14 E. Scranton Ave. 
located in the Central Business District.  At its meeting on November 18th the Plan Commission and 
Zoning Board of Appeals (PCZBA) conducted a public hearing and recommended the Village Board 
grant the SUP to operate a physical fitness facility (by Focused Results Personal Training) with the 
following conditions:  
 

1) The facility may be open for business Monday through Friday, from 5:30 a.m. to 9:00 p.m., and on 
Saturday and Sunday, from 6:30 a.m. to 2:00 p.m.; and 

2) The facility shall solely operate for the purpose of conducting individual personal training sessions 
for no more than two clients at one time.  

 
The Petitioner has submitted a request to waive second reading of the ordinance and will be in attendance, 
as well as Village Staff, to answer questions from the Board. 
 
Reports and Documents Attached: 

1. Ordinance Granting a Special Use Permit to Operate a Physical Fitness Facility at 14 E. Scranton 
Ave.;  

2. PCZBA Staff Report (with attachments) Dated October November 13, 2015; and 
3. A Letter Dated November 19, 2015 Requesting the Village Board Waive Second Reading. 

 
PCZBA’s Recommendation:  Approval of the ordinance.   
 
Village Administrator’s Recommendation:   Consider first reading approval; and 
 Consider waiving second reading approval. 

Date Referred to Village Board: 11/23/2015 











































VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 
REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION 

 
             Agenda Item:  18 

 
 
 
Subject: 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF TITLE III OF 
THE LAKE BLUFF MUNICIPAL CODE REGARDING LIQUOR CONTROL 
(Number of Licenses) 

 
Action Requested: 

 
FIRST READING APPROVAL (Roll Call Vote) 
CONSIDER REQUEST TO WAIVE SECOND READING (Roll Call Vote) 

 
Originated By: 

 
INOVASI RESTAURANTS, LLC 

 
Referred To:  

 
VILLAGE BOARD 

 
Summary of Background and Reason For Request: 
 
The Village is in receipt of liquor license applications from John des Rosiers (Applicant) requesting a 
Class W License for Wisma Concepts, LLC (currently holds Class A and Z Licenses) and Inovasi 
Restaurants, LLC (currently holds Class V and X Licenses).  A Class W License will allow Wisma and 
Inovasi to sale alcohol at retail (between 11:00 a.m. to 12:00 a.m.) as an incidental part of the catering of 
food for private events not held at either restaurant locations.  Currently the liquor regulations allow for 
zero Class W Licenses.  Therefore, it is recommended Section 3-2-10 of the Municipal Code be amended 
to increase the number of licenses for Class W from zero to two. 
 
In addition, the attached ordinance amends the Liquor Code to correct a scrivener’s error by adding one 
Class Y License for a brewery/brew pub.   
 
It is anticipated the Applicant will submit a request to waive second reading of the ordinance before the 
Village Board meeting.  The Applicant and Village Staff will be available to answer questions from the 
Board.  
 
Reports and Documents Attached: 
 

1. Ordinance Amending the Village’s Liquor Code; and 
2. A Request to Waive Second Reading. 

 
Liquor Commissioner’s Recommendation:      Consider approval of the ordinance.  
 
Village Administrator’s Recommendation:      Consider approval of the ordinance; and 
  Consider waiving second reading. 

 
Date Referred to Village Board: 11/23/2015 



 

, 
 
 
 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 2015-__ 
 
 
 
 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING  
TITLE 3 OF THE VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF MUNICIPAL CODE  

CONCERNING THE NUMBER OF LIQUOR LICENSES 
 
 

Passed by the Board of Trustees, _______________, 2015 

Printed and Published, __________________, 2015 
 
 
 
 

Printed and Published in Pamphlet Form 
by Authority of the 

President and Board of Trustees 

VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 
LAKE COUNTY, ILLINOIS 

 
 
 
 
I hereby certify that this document 
was properly published on the date 
stated above. 
 
 
 
      
Village Clerk 

cweatherall
Typewritten Text
ATTACHMENT 1



 

 

ORDINANCE NO. 2015-__ 
 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING  
TITLE 3 OF THE VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF MUNICIPAL CODE  

CONCERNING THE NUMBER OF LIQUOR LICENSES 
 

WHEREAS, pursuant to the Illinois Liquor Control Act, 235 ILCS 5/1-1 et seq., 
the Village of Lake Bluff has the authority to license and regulate the retail sale of alcoholic 
beverages in the Village; and, 

 
WHEREAS, the Village of Lake Bluff desires to increase the number of Class W 

licenses in response to recently received applications for such license; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the Village further desires to correct a codification error in the 

Village’s Municipal Code by correctly listing a previously-granted Class Y license in the 
Municipal Code; and,  

 
WHEREAS, the President and the Board of Trustees of the Village have found 

and determined that the adoption of the amendments set forth in this Ordinance are in the best 
interest of the Village and its residents. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE PRESIDENT AND THE 

BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF, COUNTY OF LAKE, STATE 
OF ILLINOIS, as follows: 

 
Section 1. Recitals.      
 
The foregoing recitals are incorporated into and made a part of this Ordinance by 

this reference as if fully set forth. 
 

Section 2. Amendment to Number of Licenses.   
 
Section 3-2-10, entitled “Number of Licenses" of Chapter 2, entitled “Liquor 

Control,” of Title 3, entitled "Business and License Regulations," of the Lake Bluff Municipal 
Code, shall be and it is hereby amended to increase the number of Class W licenses and 
correctly reflect the currently-approved number of Class Y licenses as follows: 

 
"3-2-10: Number of Licenses:  The maximum number of alcoholic 
beverage licenses by classification thereof available at any time 
for issuance shall be as follows: 
 
Class   Number 
 
***  *** 
W  0   2 
 
***  *** 
 
Y  0   1"  
 
 

 



 - 2 -

Section 4. Effective Date. 

This Ordinance shall be effective following passage by the Board of Trustees of 
the Village of Lake Bluff in the manner required by law and publication in pamphlet form in the 
manner required by law. 

PASSED this __ day of ______, 2015, by vote of the Board of Trustees of the Village of Lake 
Bluff, as follows: 

AYES:  ()  

NAYS: () 

ABSTAIN: () 
 
ABSENT: ()  
 
 

APPROVED this __ day of _______, 2015. 

______________________________ 
Village President 

ATTEST: 
 
 
 
__________________________ 
Village Clerk 

 
 
FIRST READING:   
 
SECOND READING:   
 
PASSED:    
 
APPROVED:    
 
PUBLISHED IN PAMPHLET FORM:   
 

 

 
 



cweatherall
Typewritten Text
ATTACHMENT 2




